               GUION  MILLER:  CARTER APPLICANTS
                                                     by Marie Carter Brito   13 Aug 2014

   The 91 Carters who applied for the Guion Miller Roll included women who were applying for their children through their maternal ancestors, but many of them were the descendants of my direct paternal great-great-grandparents:  William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf of North Carolina.

   William Carter was a son of Samuel Carter and Mary Barnes of Delaware county, Pennsylvania. [William's great-grandparents were born in England.]  This couple emigrated south in 1758 to Virginia, where they were joined by Samuel's nephew, Isaac Carter, about 1770.  

    Isaac was the first Carter in my line to marry a part-Native girl:  Mary Bray, who was born about 1754 in Maryland; they married in Chatham county, NC in 1772.  Isaac and Mary had eleven children; eight stayed in North Carolina, three moved to Indiana, and one may have moved to Missouri. 

 I do not know for sure if any of their descendants applied for any Indian rolls, because I have no positive proof that their son Henry married a part-Native girl named Nancy, and while the census records seem to indicate that they had six children, I have not seriously researched their descendants.
    However, my family records show that Henry and Nancy's son, Thomas Carter, married Fannie Maysie, and had 14 children.  One daughter, Adaline Carter, born 5 July 1841 in Murphy, Cherokee county, NC, married her cousin Thomas Jasper Carter about 1875. [They were my great-grandparents.].

    Another child of Thomas and Fannie, Nathan Asberry Carter, married Tildy Ann Ledford. 

 At least two of their seven children applied for the Guion Miller roll, claiming through her grandparents, Peter Ledford and Jerusha Pitman. They said that Jerusha was a fullblood Cherokee Indian.  They did not record his grandparents or their great-grandparents' names.

Elbert B. Carter  #9523   7 Dec 1906   Wolf Creek, Cherokee county, NC.  His wife was 

Mollie E. Carter; no further information on her.  He was born 12 July 1873 in Isabella, Polk county, Tennessee, to Nathan Asberry Carter and Tildy Ann Ledford.  Nathan was born 1849 in Polk county, Tenn; Tildy was born abt 1850 in Cherokee county NC, and died 7 Jan 1889.  

Elbert and Mollie had three children:  Bessie, Matilda, and Carrie Carter.  
Julia Ann Carter was born in 1885.  She married Mr. Lothersid.  I did not find her application but with her brother and sister, she signed an affidavit which is in Dora's file.

Dora Carter  #9522   7 Dec 1906   Wolf Creek, Cherokee county, NC.  Not married.  She was born in Wolf Creek, NC  in 1888 to Nathan Asberry Carter and Tildy Ann Ledford. 

William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf were first cousins, four times removed, to these applicants but apparently the families had lost track of each other, although they lived in the same state.

   The two oldest children of Samuel Carter and Mary Barnes were born in Rockingham county, Virginia.  Then, about 1765, the family moved to Chatham county, NC, where William was born about 1768.  [Four of Samuel + Mary's children emigrated west to Ohio, three to Indiana, and one to Georgia—she married a descendant of the Vann-Maney family, applied for the Guion Miller roll, and was considered part of the Sizemore claims.]

   Only William, and his cousin Isaac, stayed in North Carolina.  Isaac moved from Chatham county to Surry county about 1795.  William, who married Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf of Cherokee county, NC  about 1795, lived in Macon county, Burke county, Buncombe county, and Jackson county, finally settling in Haywood county, NC,  about 1850, where he and his wife later died.  

    Note:  Anson county, NC, was split several times:  Into Rowan in 1753, into Burke in 1777, into  Buncombe in 1791, into Macon in 1828, and into Cherokee county NC in 1839.  Did they really move, or was it just the boundary changes?  
  Of the 91 Carter applicants to the Guion Miller Roll, most were illiterate and some did not recall even the names of their grandparents, but it is very likely that they were all related, in one way or another, to those English immigrants from Pennsylvania.

   William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf had nine children.  We know that two moved to TN, at least one to GA, and one to OK; all had died long before Guion Miller began accepting applications, and we do not have records of all of their descendants yet, but 8 of their 53 grandchildren, 36 of their 122 ggchildren, 2 of their 17 gggchildren and even one ggggchild did apply for the Guion Miller Roll [Eastern Cherokee] of 1906-1907, simply because the family knew that William had applied for the Siler Roll in 1851.  [William's family was rejected from the Siler Roll on statements by some of the older people in NC who said that Rebecca had always denied being Indian.  Her children said she was Cherokee; the Cherokees said she was part Catawaba. 
I think that some of her ancestors were of the Mississippian culture, who lived near Etowa Georgia from about 1000AD to 1550AD, and that she would properly be termed a Metis.]

  CHECK THIS OUT:  There is a VA man mentioned in the GM named William Carter—whose son, William A. B. Carter, born in VA 1824, married into the Smith/Shamblin line, testifying for his son #31917  Samuel H. Carter of Scotsboro AL.

    The children of William and Rebecca were:

       1) William Carter, born ca 1796.  Died or disappeared from the family records.
       2) Wilson Carter, born ca 1798.  Died or disappeared from the family records. 

                  Did he go west?
       3)
Nelson Carter, born 1798.  Married Elizabeth Carter

       4)
Barsheba Carter, born 1802.  Married Hardy William Russell

       5)
Morning B. Carter, born 1803.  Married  1)John Gibson  2)Thomas Carter

       6)
Susan Carter, born 1808.  Married Tilmon Stillwell

       7)  William Frederick Carter, born 1813.  Married Margaret Reed

       8)  Ann Carter, born 1815.  Married Elijah Sourjohn

       9)  Nathan Thompson Carter, born 1820.  Married Eleanor Yarberry
     Fifty six descendants of William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf applied for the Guion Miller Roll; they were the offspring of each of these children except William, Wilson, and Ann.  
    Beginning with Nelson Carter:  born 1798 in Macon county, NC,  who married Elizabeth Carter [born 1801 in Buncombe county NC; no further information on her.]  This couple had nine children; two children and five of their grandchildren applied.  Nelson, who was Ne-hi-si-ni- gi-gw-da, went on the Trail of Tears to Indian Territory but came back.  His Indian name, and his wife's, were given in Cherokee font in app #4251. 

    The children of Nelson and Elizabeth Carter were:  John Nelson, Tom, John H., William R., Frances Marion, Martha Ann, George, Margaret L., and Sarah. 

                  I underlined the ones who applied or whose descendants applied.
1)   Martha A. Felmet #13847  applied on 24 Jan 1907 at St Joseph, Buchanan county, MO, then went home to Leonard, TX.  She was born in Gilmer county, GA in 1842, a daughter of Nelson and Elizabeth Carter.  She said that her parents were both Carters but no kin or relation.  Her mother was born in Buncombe county, NC, to Henry and Martha Carter.   Her father was born in Haywood county, NC to William Carter and Rebecah Carter—Rebecah's Indian name was Sourjohn.  Martha Felmet's parents lived in GA in 1851.  She is a widow of Nathaniel G. Felmet, drawing an Indian War pension #6917.  Her daughter, Margaret L. Hall, stated that Martha Felmet went from GA to IN about the time of the war and came to MO about 1879.  Martha Felmet's father died about 1887; her mother died about 1888.  She was grouped with #31991 & #37567-8.  

2)   Margaret L. Carter  #41338   27 Aug 1907   Afton, Dawson county GA   She married Dalphis Gaddis.  They had five children.  

She named her grandmother as Rebecca Wolf, born in Cherokee co, NC.
    The five grandchildren of Nelson Carter who submitted applications were:
1)   Thomas Clingman Carter #4351  1 Oct 1906  Murphy, Cherokee county NC   He named his great-grandmother:  Rebecca Hornbuckle.

His application gave the names of his relatives, including his parents, in Cherokee font.

He was a son of John Nelson Carter + Lavina Bavic Gibson, who were 1st cousins. He gave their names as Tso-ni Yis-ga-da and Guis-ni gi-svi-si-ni.

2)   George W. Carter #40960   27 Aug 1907   Ball Ground, Cherokee county GA    He married Elveria Carter.  No children listed.  He was the son of  John H. Carter + Nancy Carter, who were 1st cousins.  His sisters, Elizabeth Brookshire, Lillia Rivis, and Florida Adams, did not apply.

3)   Margaret L. Hall #31991  2 Aug 1907    St. Joseph, Buchanan county MO.   She was a daughter of  Nathaniel G. Felmet and Martha Ann Carter.           She married  Marcus L. Hall.   The rejection letter from GM was not picked up at St Joseph Missouri.
4)   Katie F. Johnston  #37567   22 Aug 1907    Leonard, Fannin county, TX.    She was born Dec 24, 1872 in Clark county, Indiana, a daughter of Nathaniel G. Felmet and Martha Ann Carter. He was born in North Carolina; she was born in Gilmore county Ga.  In 1851, he was living in Floyd county Ga and she was living in Fannin county Ga.  He died May 6, 1904; she is still living.  Their children were: Eliza Hall, Katie Johnston, Bettie Savage, Nathaniel, Eddie, Rosa, Willie, and Daisy Felmet, all dead except Eliza, Katie, and Bettie. She did not know the Christian name of her Felmet grandfather; her mother's parents were Bettie Carter and Nelson Carter; she was born in North Carolina and he was born in Georgia.  The children of Bettie and Nelson Carter, all living in Georgia, are John, Margaret, and Sarah Carter.   Katie married Clarence T. Johnston, age 39, not an Indian.  Their two children were Mason Johnston and Beatrice Johnston.  

  Katie signed her application with an X.  Her witnesses were JP Winder and John F Hall, who had known her for 3 years.

5)   Bettie E. Savage #37568    22 Aug 1907    Sanger, Denton county TX.   She was born

June 9, 1882 in Missouri, a daughter of Nathaniel G. Felmet and Martha Ann Carter.  The information she gave about her ancestors matched the information given by her sister, Katie F. Johnston. Bettie married Jessie H. Savage, not an Indian.  Their children are  Mattie Lee, Martin H., and Otho J Savage.  Bettie signed her application.  Her witnesses were J. P. Winder and Joe F.  Hall, who had known her for 3 years.

         Barsheba Carter, the first daughter of William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf, married Hardy William Russell.  This couple had seven children:  William, Robert, John, Nancy, Eliza, Hiram and Evelyn.  None of them applied.  They went on the Trail of Tears. DID THEY RETURN?  Look at Russell apps in OK, esp. Richard Russell #1906.
   The three grandchildren of Barsheba Carter who submitted applications were:

1)   Jefferson D. Stratton  #1307   13 Oct 1906    Blue Ridge, Fannin county GA  who married Kansas J. Victory.  app note groups him with #43901 [Tinnie Lane] & says he is the 1st cousin once removed of #32.   He was the son of Eliza Elizabeth Russell  +  Jackson Stratton; his wife also applied:

 2)   Kansas Jane Victoria Halls  #28958   9 July 1907   Blue Ridge GA   Her parents were Hall + Orten/Cochran but she claimed to be an orphan child.  She was also applying for her daughter by Jefferson D. Stratton: Vera Stratton.

       app note says she is the nephew of  #11469, Mary Cochran,look her up but #11469 was George N. Orton of Wilcot GA.  There were a lot of apps grouped with him.  Rufta-Cobble line.  Misc Test 1498, the interview deposition of George N. Orton, age 70, living in Fannin county GA:  He claimed Cherokee descent thru his mother, and her mother, who was ½ Cherokee and whose surname was Coble or Cobble.  His parents moved from Iredell county, NC to Fannin county, GA about 1842.  
3) Tinnie Lane  #43901   25 Sept 1907    Santeetlah, Graham county, NC   First cousin once removed and claims through the same source as #1307.  She was the daughter of  Joemy Stratton of TN + Eliza Passice of Qualla, NC, Her grandparents were Jackson Stratton and Eliza Elizabeth Russell.  She said that three of Woody Russell + Basha Carter's children lived in Arkansas:  Bill Russell, Fidella Russell, and Bud Russell.  She also said that Basha Carter was born in Qualla, NC.  Look up ARK Russells.
   Morning B. Carter, the second daughter of William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf, married John Gibson, a Cherokee named Nsu-ni-Gi-wi-si-ni.  Their names are given in Cherokee font in app #4251.  This couple had six children:  Margaret, Lavina Bavic, John Creighton, Solomon L., William E., and Elias.  [Two sons, John Creighton and Elias, may have died in the Civil War.] 

 Note:  There was a Cherokee in KY named Squire Gibson.  He married Paulina Cole.
   The four grandchildren of Morning Carter and John Gibson who submitted applications were:    

1)   Thomas Clingman Carter #4251   1 Oct 1906   Murphy, Cherokee county NC  His application has names in Cherokee font.   He was a son of Lavina Bavic Gibson + John Nelson Carter, who were 1st cousins.    He married Mary J. Carter about 1885; they had 8 children.

2)   William Gibson #6764    21 Dec 1906   Murphy NC   He married Ellen Gibson.  He was a son of Solomon L. Gibson + Margaret Wright or Elizabeth Knight.

3)   John Gibson #6778     21 Dec 1906   Murphy NC   He was age 20 and single in 1906.  He only spoke the  Cherokee language, but was rejected anyway!   He was a son of Solomon L. Gibson + Margaret Wright. They lived on the Qualla boundary, NC.

4)   Joseph Gibson #6780   21 Dec 1906   Murphy NC  brother of #6764.  note: from the letter file, Mary J. Warlick, who said they were white and negro.  He was age 22, born in Elijay, Macon county NC, and lived on Qualla land. He was a son of Sol Gibson + Elizabeth Wright.

Mary Jane Warlick #5482  Murphy NC  1st cousin of #1542 [Emma Blair]  Admitted:  Claimant's mother enrolled in 1851 by Chapman #1403.  The letter in her app does not mention Gibsons; she just says that the attorney, Belva Lockwood, ''came and signed up all those niggers!''
  Look for another letter in the letter file; This appears to be a clerk jumping to conclusions.

   One great-grandson of Morning Carter—thru her children William and Angeline Gibson—applied:

1)   James Gibson  #38421   26 Aug 1907    Farmington, Davie county NC    He was the son of Coleman Gibson + Angeline Gibson.  His paternal grandparents were William E. Gibson and a black slave named Hannah.  Angeline, who was Coleman's aunt, was the daughter of Morning B. Carter and John Gibson.         James Gibson married Sally Long.

James and Sally Gibson also filed a separate application for their 16 year-old daughter, a ggggdau of William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle:

      Angeline Gibson  #38422    26 Aug 1906    Farmington NC

    Morning B. Carter had a second husband after her first one left on the removal to Indian Territory; the first family did not mention the second one, but the second family knew of the first one.  Apparently, she took three of her children by John Gibson from the Qualla boundary to Jackson county, Tennessee, where she married her nephew, Thomas Carter [a son of Nelson and Elizabeth Carter].  Those three children were ''Vinie Carter, Crate Carter Gibson, and Lias Carter Gibson.''  Morning and Thomas had one daughter,  Peggie Angeline Carter.
   The grandchildren of her first marriage said that Lavina Bavic Gibson, [a child of Morning + John] married her cousin, John Nelson Carter, about 1851—Note that she was in the Siler Roll applications in 1851 in her parents' household.  Lavina and John's first child, Thomas Clingman Carter, was born in Haywood county; they lived in Swain county, NC before the Civil War.  John left her and ''went off to Georgia somewhere.''  She then married Bill Mitchell. I know nothing of what happened after that, but Lavina Bavic Gibson-Carter-Mitchell died in Tennessee in 1903.  Look for her kids by Bill Mitchell.
Those same grandchildren said that John Creighton Gibson was born 1836 and died in the Civil War, and that his brother, Elias Gibson, also died in the Civil War.  They said that Angeline Gibson, who was born in Stokes county NC, died about 1872, and that her husband was Coleman Gibson of Stokes county. 

   [Coleman was the son of William E. Gibson and Hannah, a slave. William E. Gibson was the son of John Gibson—the Cherokee named Nsu-ni-Gi-wi-si-ni—and Morning B. Carter.]

    As told by the grandchildren of Morning's second marriage, Peggie Angeline Carter, who was born at Shoal Creek in Jackson county TN, married a colored man named Washington Gibson [son of Rhoda Gibson and Ransom Welch] who was born in Haywood county, N.C.  [Perhaps Peggie was visiting her grandparents when they married, as Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf lived in Haywood City, Haywood county, NC after 1851.]

 According to her son Julius Gibson, Peggie Angeline Carter ''did not attend the Indian councils.  She was afraid to be enrolled and  afraid to affiliate with the Indian people because she did not want to be sent away.  When Hester was here [1883] she did not go up although her name was called to put her children on the roll.  My father was a colored man.  My mother was quarter Indian.  The other three-quarters was white and Portuguese.  My mother's children all pass as colored.''

Peggie Angeline Carter and Washington Gibson, who lived in Haywood county, Jackson county, and Swain county, NC, married between 1851 and 1856.  Three of their eight children died before 1906; the other five applied for the Guion Miller Roll; none of them filed supplemental applications for their children.   Check the census records of 1870-1880 for dates of kids' births.           

                 Sarah Gibson, d. 1903

                 Nancy Gibson, b.1857, d. 1889  b. 1859 per 1860 census:  5 months old.
                 Jim Gibson, d. 1895 

 1)   Morning Gibson  #8689    22 Oct 1906    Birdtown, Swain county, NC.  She married Harrison Coleman.  She was b 1858 per 1860 census, which gives her middle initial: E.
 2)   Rhoda Elvira Gibson  #8692   20 Oct 1906    Beta, Jackson co, NC.  She married Pink Love.  She was b 1856 per 1860 census.
 3)   Ransom E. Gibson  #8690   20 Oct 1906    Governors Island, Swain co, NC.  He married Hattie.  He used the name, Gipson.

 4)   Mary Magdalene Gibson  #8691   20 Oct 1906    Bryson City, Swain co, NC.  She married Thomas Conley.

Julius Gibson  #8687   22 Oct 1906   Governors Island, Swain co, NC. He was married but did not specify.  He used the name, Gipson.

I wonder if this Peggie Angeline Carter was my great-grandmother, who married Thomas Jasper Carter and had 7 children by him from 1879 to 1899?   Her descendants said that this couple were cousins.  She was ten years older, born 5 July 1841 in Murphy, Cherokee county, NC--and died on 23 Dec 1918 in Benton, Polk county, TN.  They called her Adaline or Angeline....I have her parents as Thomas Carter and Fannie Maise.  Her daughter Serethy said her name was Fannie Adaline Carter.  They are in the 1860 census.

Check the census records of 1880-1900 in database  She is in Polk Co TN in 1900 and 1910.  

There is a whole group of Gibsons who trace their ancestry back to THRASHER GIBSON, born calc. 1780, who was a Cherokee from NC but had relatives or friends in KY.   At least ten of his descendants applied for the Guion Miller roll. I suspect that he may be related to our John Gibson, born NC 1805, who married Morning B. Carter.   I include the three with the most information:
Hiram Talton Sims  #13823  applied 24 June 1907 at  Similax, Jackson county, Alabama; he moved to Trenton in Dade county, Georgia.

   Hiram was born 17 Oct 1857 to John Sims and Mary Gibson.  John was born in NC; Mary was born in Jackson county AL.  Both are dead.   He claims on his mothers side.  ''She was the daughter of Hiram Gibson sometimes spelt Gipson and my Great Grandfather was Fletcher Gibson.''  Hiram stated that he had applied ''some 10 or 12 years ago but was rejected on account of being a nonresident of the Nation.''

   He named his siblings:  Nellie Higdon, David Martin Sims, Pleasant Holly Sims, and Nancy Emeline Sims.  His grandfathers were John Sims and Hiram Gibson.  His aunts and uncles:  Mary Sims, and  his paternal ones [all dead] were:  Alexander Gibson, James Gibson, Andrew Gibson, Elizabeth Garison, Colonel Gibson, Dock Gibson, and Rachel Hulvey.  He said he did not know who Fletcher Gibson married.  

    He signed his application; his witnesses were Jasper Gray and Mary Gray, who had known him for 35 years.

   Hiram T. Sims was married to Ellen Maden Nance Howard, 42 years old, not Indian.  They had nine children:  John Benjamin, Rufus Pleasant, Maud Belle, George Marion, Henry Levi, Mary Remerline, Ada Annie, Fletcher Rust, and Harris Thomas Sims.  The witnesses for the children's application were Jefferson Gray, who had known Hiram for 45 years, and William Kirkpatrick, who had known him for 30.
   At his interview in Scotsboro Alabama on 27 June 1908, which is labeled Misc Test p650, he says:  ''My name is Hiram Talton Sims.  My Post office is Similax, Ala.  I was born in 1857 in Jackson county Ala.  I claim thro my mother and her father and his father.  My mother has been dead about ten or twelve years and was 64 or 65 when she died.  I think she was born in Jackson county, Ala.  My greatgrandfather's name was Thrasher.  Hiram Gibson, my grandfather, came from N.C, I think.  He was captured from his mother by his father and carried to Kentucky, where he lived until he was nearly grown, and he run away and came to his uncle here in Stevenson, Ala.  I never heard of my mother or grandfather getting any money or land  from the Govt.  I heard that my grandfather and my mother were not enrolled.  They were afraid that they would be taken off, and my grandfather has some malice agains the Indians, for treatment that he received while with his father Thrasher in Ky.  

    When the agents came to enroll them my grandfather was out hunting, and my mother did the talking with the agent.  In 1882 I was living in Dade county, Ga. I think.  I did not know there was any enrollment at that time.  I think that my grandfather after he came back from Ky lived with the Indians in Jackson county, Ala. until they went west.  I don't know when that was.  I think my grandfather voted with the white people.  I think probably my great grandfather, Thrasher, came from N.C.  I never heard of my mother's brothers or sisters ever getting any land or being enrolled.  I have some relatives who claim through the same line as I do, I think.  One was Hiram Gibson, and a widow Nancey Gibson, who claims for her minor children.    And Dave and Andy Gibson of South Pittsburgh.

   My mother lived with the tribe when she was small.  I never heard my mother say anything about my grandfather taking part in any tribal proceedings.  I have heard my mother say that when my grandfather went across the river to Cherokee Nation that they lived with the Indians.''

    In a later letter, 12 Apr 1908, to the GM office, he says that Hiram Gibson's mother was a white woman.  

    In Hiram T. Sim's appeal file is a deposition by John Smith, age 77, who had known Hiram Gibson for 35 years, and knew him to be the grandfather of Hiram T. Sims, ''and he told me that he was a half Cherokee Indian, and was always recognized as a Half Cherokee Indian, by all who knew him.''         John Smith signed his statement in Jackson county Alabama on 21 Aug 1909.
    Another statement. Handwritten, in Hiram T. Sim's file is by Jasper Gray, age 62:  ''….I was acquainted with his Grand Father—Hiram Gibson from my childhood until his death   being with him more or less every week and can Say that he had Every Appearance of an Indian and was Looked on and Treated as one.  He died in 1865 and he was about 60 years Old and his Indian name was Fletcher    Said to be by Old People then living and that his Fathers People went to the Nation in 1835-36   Or was Driven there with the rest of the Tribe of Eastern Cherokees   I obtain this Information from the Old People who lived here at That Time and the Claimant is 52 years Old and his PO address is Trenton Ga and his application is 13823....''
Bill Gibson  #27645  28 June 1907  Long Island, Jackson county, Ala.  Reject.  Probably Slaves:  See affidavit filed with exception. Grouped with 27768-28434-29917-29918-36631.

   He was born 14 Sept 1876 in Jackson county Alabama to Dock Gibson and Nancy McClusky, both born in Jackson county, Ala.  His father died 13 Sept 1898; his mother is living.  He said that they were enrolled in Jackson county Ala in 1890.  He lists his twelve siblings:  Mattie, Houston, Mary, Jack, Willis, John, Dock, Bob, Nancy, Claiborn, Rebecca, and Ellen.  He did not know the names of his aunts & uncles.  He said that his great grandfather was named Thrasher Gibson who was a full Cherokee.  

   Bill's wife was Georgia Ellen Gibson; they had no children.  He signed his application with an X.  His witnesses were Dock Rhoads and S. H. James, who had known him for 15 years.

    He filed an appeal and was rejected again.  
Hiram Emery Gibson  #19273   22 March 1907   South Pittsburgh, Jackson county Tenn. 

   Hiram was born in Jackson county, Ala on 27 Feb 1867 to Gilbert Gibson, [born at Gibson Cove in Jackson county Ala, died April 14, 1884]; and Cordelia Maxelle, also born in Jackson county, who was still living in 1907.  

   Hiram moved to Shellmound, which is now a suburb of South Pittsburgh.  He claimed Cherokee blood through his father, Gilbert Gibson, his grandfather Hiram Gibson [who was in the Civil War] and his great grandfather, Thrasher, who was a Cherokee Indian.

   Hiram's brothers and sisters were:  Adaline Woodall, b. 16 Feb 1864; Emery Gibson, b 27 May 1867; Andrew Gibson, b 22 March 1869; William Dave Gibson, b 7 March 1872; John Gibson,

b 16 July 1862, d Apr 1870; and Rebecca Gibson, d 9 Apr 1884.

   Hiram married Nancie Gibson, b Feb 1860.  He did not file an application for his children.

   He said in a letter to GM, ''I do not claim any cherkee descent through my Mothers side, as to my Father whose name was Gilbert Gibson, he claimed to be ¼ cherokee, and my Grand Father was ½ cherokee Indian, if he ever had any other name I do not know what it was, I was only 16 years old when my Father died.  I do not know why my Father was not listed as he never told me, neither of my parents were ever held as slaves.  I had two uncles who went to Indian Territory, and took up land there, uncle Jim Gibson went some time about the close of the war and uncle Colonel Gibson went about the year 1879.''

   In another letter to GM, he said:  ''My Grategranfather Name was Thrasher Gibson, full Cherokee Indian.  Born in North Carolina and Lived there until he died and Hiram Gibson was a Sonne of Therescher Gibson and when the Indians was drove from heare the said Hiram Gibson was drove with them until he came to Alabama and they Pronnanced him to Bee a White Man and Released him from the Rest of the Company.  He Remained in Alabama until death. 

The Said Hiram Gibson a Son of the Said Threcher Gibson was my Gran father.''

   Connecting surnames of this set of Gibsons are:  Crossman, Demarcus, Gavrin,  Gilliam, Griffin,  Higdon, Hulvey, Long, McClusky, Maxelle, and Woodall.   Connecting applications

are  19274, 30040, 32903.  
   Another set of Gibsons are included in the ''Indian John'' case.  [see #29248, 29342, 29783, 31486, 34219, 35813, 38503, etc.]   These are the descendants of a Scotsman, Andrew Gibson, who was born about 1780 and who emigrated to the USA.  His son, David C. Gibson of Guilford county NC married Phyllis Winsor, also of Guilford county.  David died in 1880; Phyllis died in 1886.  They had three children in Guilford county NC:  Hannah, Lewis B, and Lindsey Gibson.  Phyllis Winsor's mother was a negro named Drakie Webster; her father was ''Indian John.''   This couple had at least two children:  Sarah Davoult, whose Indian name was Do-na-Recaw, [who married her nephew, Lindsey Gibson] and the aforementioned Phyllis Winsor.  Was this Hannah the one who married William E. Gibson, who connects with the children of Morning Carter?  
   Indian John is in the records of Caswell County, NC.  His name was actually John Daniel Winsor/Windesley.  This Indian John is probably not the John Gibson who married Morning Carter, whose husband was born about 1800 in NC; I have no information about his parents.  WAS HE A SON OF SQUIRE GIBSON OF KENTUCKY?
      Susan Carter, the third daughter of William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf, married Tilmon Stillwell.  This couple had six children:  Talitha, Fannie, Harrison, Hiram, Henry, and Sarah.

     One of Susan's greatgrandchildren—via Henry—applied:

1)   Edward Levy Stillwell  #19470   27 March 1907   Biltmore NC   He was not married.

He was the son of Harrison Stillwell and Mary Houk of NC.  His grandfather, Henry Stillwell, was a Confederate War soldier.  In Misc. Testimony p1696 [which is Edward's interview statement] he says that his father was born in Burt County, NC and that ''I don't know where my grandfather was born but I guess it was in Burt County. N.C....They say that my great grandfather was a half Indian and married a full blooded Indian.  I don't know what her name was.  My great grandfather lived in the extreme western part of N.C.  or the eastern part of Tennessee, I am not sure which.  I have heard that Rachel Albert was my grandfather's mother's name.  She was a full blood.  My father and my grandfather always lived in N.C.  until my grandfather went in the Confederate war.'' [Note:  ''Burt County'' was likely Burke County NC.]
    William Frederick Carter, the fourth son and seventh child of William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf, married Margaret Reed.  Fred and Peggy reportedly had 15 children, but my records show only twelve: my grandmother, who interviewed her late husband's relatives in the 1940's, did not get the names of Margaret, Henry, Shone, or Greene.  [Perhaps some of the children went by nicknames or middle names.] His relatives reported that Peggy was German and ''Black Dutch.''  [Which was a name used by the Cherokees who escaped the Trail of Tears, and was later used by the Roma Gypsy people, and was also the nickname of the Melungeon/Metis tri-racial groups.]
   The children of  William Frederick Carter + Margaret A. Reed were:  Mary Ann, William, Jackson, Jess, James, Margaret, Nancy, Harriet M, Berry, Henry, Thomas Jasper, Shone, Greene, Andrew, Lafayette, Mary R, and Susan J.  

   The three children of Fred and Peggy who applied were:

1)   Mary Ann Helton # 33556   9 Aug 1907    Charleston, Bradley county Tenn    She married Miles Washington Helton, who died in 1900.  In her interview, she gave a lot of information and said that her brother Jess lives in Little Rock, Arkansas,  where he has land, and drew money out there.  She names a lot of her relatives, and says that her father called her mother, ''Peggie.''  

2)   William Carter #1228   8 Oct 1906    Springplace, Murray county GA  He married Emley Helton before 1860, who may have been Susan Guseman.  He appears to be the person who filed an appeal for Henry Carter.  Appeal #12281 altho the GM clerk wrote ''wrong application'' on the appeal. Henry's parents were Fred Carter and Jane Carter; grandparents were Willam Carter and Susan Carter.  This matches my database; Fred and Jane were brother and sister.
3)   Thomas Carter #32267    2 Aug 1907     Benton, Polk county TN  He was married 3 times:  Amanda Orton, Adaline Carter, and Mattie Stewart.  He also had a son by Martha Marr.  In his application, he named his maternal grandmother:  Bache Reed.  [Thomas Jasper Carter and Adaline Carter were my great grandparents.  Their fathers were said to be brothers, but I do not have her father in the family of William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf!  When Adaline's daughter Sereathy applied, she stated that her aunts and uncles included Henry Carter of Red Clay GA, William Carter of the Choctaw Nation in Indian Territory, Berry Carter of Dahlonga Georgia, Fate Carter, and Sarah Helton of Benton Tennessee.]

  JOHN PACE says to check the Cross family records of Benton/Ducktown TN for Sarah Helton. There is a Sarah M. Cross #504, Graysville TN that I need to look at as well as the other Cross applications in TN.  I have her app.  She is a dau of an interpreter/cherokee chief at the removal named Daniel Smith Helton, whose parents were Peter & Jennie Helton or Hel-Too.   It is unlikely that she is the Sarah I am looking for, whose name was Sarah E. Carter Helton, b 1859 in Cherokee county, NC and d aft 1880...her parents were Thomas Carter and Fannie Maise.
   The thirteen grandchildren of Fred and Peggie who applied were:

1)   John J. Carter #25663   17 June 1907    Mountain Town GA    He married Millie Tanter.

He was a son of William Carter + Emley Susan Helton Guseman.  John and Millie had no children, but they raised his cousin's son, William J. Carter.

2)   Jane Carter  #25664    17 June 1907    Eton, Murray county GA   She married Willie Cochran before 1876.   I do not know if Willie was related to Kansas Jane Victoria Gibson. 

Jane Carter was the daughter of William Carter + Susan Guseman.  Willie and Jane had 6 children:  Charley, Laura, Henry, Alma, John, and Florence Cochran.

3)   Frederick Carter #25665    17 June 1907   Eton GA   He married Fannie Brown.

He was a son of William Carter + Susan Guseman.  Frederick and Fannie had one son: 

William H. Carter.

4)   William Carter #25666   17 June 1907   Eton GA   He married Lula Carter.  

He was a son of William Carter + Susan Guseman.  William and Lula had no children.

5)   Margaret Jane Carter #17461    11 Feb 1907    Aska, Fannin county GA   She married William J. Franklin about 1890.  She was the daughter of  James Carter + Sarah J. Parker.

James and Margaret had 6 children:  James D., Jesse N., Morris G., Henry L., Lee D., and Cora Franklin. 

6)   Jonas J. Carter  #44563    2 Mar 1908    Aska GA    He married Eda Carter.

He was the son of James Carter + Sarah J. Parker.  Jonas and Eda had had two children:  Bertha and Paul Carter.

7)   George W. Carter #40960    27 Aug 1907    Ball Ground, Cherokee county GA   He married Elvira Carter  He was the son of Nancy Carter + John H. Carter, who were 1st cousins.  George and Elvira had no children.

 8)   Mary Ann Kennedy  #18191   11 Mar 1907    Whiteside, Marion county TN   She married Ambrose Kennedy.  She was a daughter of Thomas J. Carter + Amandy Norton.  Mary Ann and Ambrose had no children.

 9)   Leander A. Carter,  #41125   29 Aug 1907    Benton, Polk county TN

He married 1) Willie Moore and 2) Mary LattieAnn Dunn.  He had 6 children:  Ammon, Esther, Ules, Edna, Albert, and Gertrude Carter. 

He was a son of Thomas Jasper Carter + Adaline Carter, who were 1st cousins.  

10)   Rose Ann Carter #32525   30 July 1907     Lafayette, Walker county GA   She married Will F. Johnson.  She was a daughter of Thomas Jasper Carter + Adaline Carter.  No children.

11)   Serethy Carter #37475    23 Aug 1907    Hillsboro, Lawrence county, Ala. She was born April 6th, 1884 in Cherokee, North Carolina.  She married  R. D, (Bill) Riley, a Cherokee.  Their 4 children were Rosie Mabell, Martha Sue, Minnie Lou, and an unnamed girl.  She said she was a daughter of T. J. Carter + Fannie Adline Carter, who were born in Cherokee NC.  Her siblings were F. R. Carter, born 1878; Roseamine Carter, b 1879, md Giv Johnson; S. A. Carter, b 1879; and Josie Carter, b 1881, md C. B.R. Stinnett.  Her  Aunts and uncles were Henry Carter of Red Clay GA; William Carter of Choctaw Nation IT; Benney Carter, Dalhonga GA; Fate Carter, and Sarah Helton of Benton Tenn.  She signed her application with an X.  Her witnesses were

E. D. Odum and J. T. Terry, who had known her for 4 years.  The last letter from GM in her file was forwarded in June, 1909 to Athens, Ala.  She may have moved to Athens in Jackson county Georgia, or to the Athens in McMinn county TN.
12)   Josephine Carter #41124    27 Aug 1907    Benton TN   She married Charles Stinnett.

She was a daughter of Thomas Jasper Carter + Adaline Carter.  Charles and Josephine had five children:  Cora, Buster, Thomas, Charlie, and Daisy Stinnett

 LOOK FOR ELIZABETH PEARL CARTER  in the census: b Sept 1899, d abt 1960 in TN
 13)   William J. Carter  #30399    27 July 1907    Mountain Town GA    He was age 15 and single in 1907, the illegitimate son of Thomas Jasper Carter and Martha Marr, and was living with his older cousin, John J. Carter, the son of Emley Susan Helton Guseman.  I do not know if Emley was related to the Miles Washington Helton who married Mary Ann Carter, the aunt of John J Carter.        Was William Carter's mother, Mattie Stewart? 

One great-grandson of Fred and Peggie applied:  

John Franklin  #44564   2 March 1908   Aska, Fannin county, Ga.  Reject; cousin of #1761                        and claims through the same source.

 He was born in Fannin county on June 30, 1882 to William J. Franklin and Nancy Carter.  William was born in Gilmer county, Georgia; Nancy was born in Polk county, Tennessee, where they were living in 1851.  Both of them are still alive.  He said he has two sisters:  Cordelia Beck and Kangda Franklin.  His grandparents were William Carter and Emaline Carter, nee Helton, who were born in Polk county, Tennessee.  Their children were Nancy Franklin and John Franklin.  His great grandparents were Frederick Carter and Margaret Carter, nee Carter.   

    John is married to Lucinda Franklin, age 27.  Their children are:  Columbus, Ruthy, and Malinda Franklin.   He signed his application with an X.  His witnesses were Jonas Carter and James Franklin, who had known him for 15 years.  [both of them signed with an X]

   Ann Carter, the third daughter and 8th child of William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf, married Elijah Sourjohn, [whose father may have been John Butler.  He is in the 1817 Reservation list of Georgia, and also as #196  Improvements, the same place as Nancy Reed lives.]  They had two children:  Martha and Elizabeth.  The Sourjohns were sent on the Trail of Tears and  Annie's family lost track of her. 

   Nathan Thompson Carter, the 5th son and 9th child of William Carter and Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf, married Eleanor Yarberry.  This couple possibly had thirteen children:  Jane, William I/J, Rebecca J, Hiscue, James, Caroline, Mathew, Mix, Thomas J, Hicks, John Byrd, Elsie, and Joseph Hascew.  Two of the sons—James & Thomas J.—died in the Civil War;  Joseph Hascew went to Indian Territory. 

   The three children of Nathan Thompson Carter and Eleanor Yarberry who applied were:

1)   Jane Carter #33     27 Aug 1906    Blue Ridge, Fannin county GA   She married John Fox McEvly.  They had one son:  John J. Carter.

2)   Hicks Carter #32    28 Aug 1906    Blue Ridge GA   He married  Massarinan Nerry.  They had two daughters:  Calla and Minnie Carter.

3)   John Byrd Carter #15479    26 Jan 1907    Childersburg, Talladega county AL   He married Jane McMain;they had 6 children:  John J., Hescew, William F., Hicks, Millie, and Affie Carter.

  There are LOTS of Blackwells.  Search them.  Check to see if Caroline Blackwell's husband or children applied.  I do not have his first name.  Caroline was John Byrd Carter's sister.  She probably lived in NC, GA, or AL. 
Several of Nathan's grandchildren also applied:

1)   John J. Carter #2316    5 Oct 1906    Padena GA    He married Milly O. Carter.

He was the son of Jane Carter + John McElvy.  John and Milly had three children:  Robert, Polly, and Ollie Bell Carter.

2)   Calla Carter Cook  #12486  19 Dec 1906  Blue Ridge, Fannin county GA.   She married Samuel R. Cook.  Calla was the daughter of Hicks Carter and Polly Cochran.  Calla and Samuel had one child:  Howard Cook.
3)   Affie Carter #14563    19 Jan 1907     Rockmart, Polk county GA    She married Homer Weddington.  She was a daughter of John Byrd Carter + Jane McMain.  Homer and Affie had no children.
4)   Millie W. Carter #14564    19 Jan 1907    Rockmart GA    She married Hiram Williams.

She was a daughter of John Byrd Carter + Jane McMain.  Hiram and Millie had three children:  Oscar, Kindness, and Hiram Williams.

5)   Billie F. Carter #14617   17 Jan 1907    Rockmart GA    He married Nellie Carter.

He was a son of John Byrd Carter + Jane McMain.  William and Nellie had four children:  Eunice, Eugene, Jennie, and Lottie Carter.

6)   Hicks Carter #14616   17 Jan 1907     Rockmart GA   He was age 15 and not married.

He was a son of John Byrd Carter + Jane McMain.

The generations:  B: children of Wm Carter + Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf

                               BC:  Grandchildren—2 generations

                               BCD:  Great-grandchildren—3 generations

                               BCDE:  Great-great-grandchildren—4 generations

                               BCDEF:  Great-great-great-grandchildren—5 generations  [Me!] 

                               BCDEFG:  Great-great-great-great-grandchildren—6 generations 
         The following are Carter applications which I have not yet connected to our family:         
KENTUCKY:  No Carters applied.

VIRGINIA: 

Lou Hash Carter  #26749  25 June 1907  Coons Eye, Wise county VA    She was born Aug 17th 1882 in Tase, Wise county, VA, a dau of Riley Stephen Hash and Celia Lelingston Peck, both born in NC; he still living, she died abt 1885.  Lou's siblings are:  William Weldon Hash; John Jerome Hash, b  5 Apr 1878; Mary Hash Hubbard, b 20 May 1884; and Belia Clemingtine Hash, b Jan 1885, d May 1905.  Lou's grandparents were John Hash + Polly Anders; John Sizemore  

They were born in NC and lived there in 1851.  She gave her aunts and uncles as James Hash, dead; M. Williams Hash, don't know address; Martha Hash, dead; Nawnir Hash, lives in NC.   Her grandfather John Hash was a Sizemore.   Lou's husband was not named, nor were any children listed.   She signed her application with an X.  Her witnesses were J.P. Hubbard, who had known her for 20 years, and Wm Carter, who had known her for 15.   Wm Carter signed his testament with an X. 
      Was this the William AB Carter who married Martha Smith?  How were they related?      

Samuel W. Carter b 6 March 1868,   married Meacy N. Sammans   #8450 who filed on  8 Dec 1906 at Grasses, Smith county VA.   Meacy was born 5 July 1873 in Ashe county NC; her mother was Mary E.  Blevens, b Ashe county NC and her father was William Sammans, b Surry county, NC.  She was a descendant of Lydia Sizemore, who was a dau of Ned Sizemore.  Meacy and Samuel's children were William C., George N., Annie E., Green W., Meacy B. E., James A., Eula C., and John C. Carter.  Her witnesses were C. L. Pennington and W. D. Pennington, who had known her for 10 years.   
William A. B. Carter, born in Patrick county VA in 1824; [his father was William Carter.] do further research on his parents!  He married Martha Smith, daughter of Gregory Smith and Nancy Shamblin.  Gregory's parents were John Smith and Kissy.  Martha had an uncle named Robert Smith.

    William A. B. Carter died in Scotsboro Ala in 1908 or 1909.  Several of his children applied for the Guion Miller roll:  #31917 Samuel H. Carter; #31920 Granville W. Carter; #31930 Joseph Carter, all living in Scottsboro Alabama.  He gave a deposition for his son:  Misc Test p861.  He signed his name with an X. 

NORTH CAROLINA:

B. M. Carter, a Cherokee born in 1852,  married Elzina Carter  #5185 & #5182  She applied June 18, 1907 in Weasel, Ash county NC.  Elzina was of the HART line, a descendant of Ned Sizemore.  She was rejected and her application was put in ''Sizemore E.''

   Elzina said that she was born in 1876 in Ashe county, NC.  She claimed through her father, 

William H. Heart.  Her mother was Martha Miller.  They were born in Ashe county and were still living in 1909.  Her siblings were:  David, Garfield, Ammanda, Luney, Elizabeth, Harrison ''and others.''

   Her paternal grandparents were Stephen and Rebecca Heart, who were born in Ashe county, NC, and lived there in 1851.  Their children were:  Betsey Chambers, lived in VA; Eli Heart, lived in Va; Aley Heart, lived in Ashe county NC; Enoch Heart, lived in VA; and Lucinda Heart, lived in Ashe county.

   Elzina said that she was ''On a roll prepared by W. H. Blioms and filed by R. V. Belt, atty, in the Office of Indian Affairs, Nov 25, 1902.''

   She gave her pedigree:  ''Elzina Carter, a dau of William Heart, a son of Stephen Heart, a son of John Heart, a son of James Heart, who married Catherine Sizemore, a dau of Ned Sizemore, a full blood Cherokee Indian.''   She signed her application; her witnesses were M. N. Stamper and John Wiles, who had known her for 15 years.

    On the same date, Elzina filed a supplemental applcation for her children by B. M. Carter:  Mary J, Edison, Gomey, and Larey Carter.  Her witnesses were Floyd Stamper, who had known her for 12 years, and J. B. Witherspoon, who had known her for 6.

Lazarus T. Carter, b 1850, married   Lula Ella Carter  #13916   who filed on June 8 1907 at Lilesville, Anson county NC.  [The GM clerks put her into the Indian Tom case; they referred to the special report in application #3090.] 

   Lula said she was born in Lilesville, NC on February 26 1885.  She claimed thru Thomas Lowe, who was her great-grandfather.  Her father was Benjamin Low, who was a son of Nelson Low, who was a son of Thomas Lowe.  She said that her mother was Martha Hooks, born near Morven, NC, and that her father was born near Lilesville, NC.  Lula's siblings were James Lowe and Melton Lowe.  

   Her paternal grandfather was Nelson Lowe, son of Thomas Lowe; her grandmother was Martha McDuffe.  They were born in Lilesville, and lived near there in 1851.  Their children were: Daniel T. Lowe, James A. Lowe, and Vernon Lowe—all lived near Lilesville and died in 1862.  Also Rebecca Lowe, whose date of death and residence are unknown, and Benjamin F. Lowe and Joseph A. Lowe, who lived in Lilesville.

   Ella signed her application; her witnesses, Jessee R. ---- and A. S. McDuffe, had known her for 21 years.

   In her supplemental application for her minor children, Lula said she was born in Lilesville Township.  She named her husband and said he was 57 years old and an Eastern Cherokee.  She claimed Indian blood for her children, Caroline and Ella J. Carter, thru her Lowe line.  She signed the application; the witnesses were T.J. Clark, who had known her for 15 years, and

R.B. Medley, who had known her for 5.  The notary public added a memorandum:  Caroline Carter has heretofore mad application in her own name, which application is #13917.  Ella J. Carter has heretofore made application in her own name, which application is #13922.

Caroline Carter #13917 and Ella Jane Carter #13922   Their father, L. T. Carter filed for them as their guardian.  The applications were identical:  both girls were born in Lilesville, Anson county, NC; Caroline on Dec 22, 1903 and Ella Jane on Sept 13, 1905.  They claimed thru Thomas Lowe, their great-great-grandfather.  Their parents were L.T. Carter and Ella Lowe, both born in Lilesville.  Their paternal grandparents were Benjamin Franklin Lowe and Martha Hooks, both born in Lilesville and lived there in 1851, whose children were Benjamin Melvin Lowe, James Thomas Lowe, and Lula Ella Lowe, all living in Lilesville.  

   Their father signed both applications on June 10th 1907.  He signed as L.T. Cater.  The witnesses were Jesse R. Usry and A.F. McDuffe; both of them had known him for 25 years.

Lee Carter, b 1872, married   Samantha Elizabeth Blankenship  #37408 Paint Fork, Madison county NC, who applied on Aug 22, 1907.  She was born in 1875 at Yancy county, NC.  [The clerks put her in the Keziah Vann file in the Sizemore case.]  Samantha said that her parents were John Blankenship and Loueda M. Holcombe.  Both were born in Yancy county NC; her father died in 1880.  

   Samantha claimed through her mother, who was a daughter of Sally Holcombe, b 1817; Sally was a dau of John J. Maney, who was a son of Martin B. Vann sr, who married Kaziah Van, who was a Cherokee Indian.  She said that Sally Holcombe ''was enrolled on all the rolls from 1847 to 1883 at her home in Yancy county, NC.''

   Samantha listed her siblings:  Yoranzo M. Blankenship, Robert H. Blankenship, Sarah L. Metcalf, Lilla Profit, James M. Blankenship, and William R. Blankenship.  William was dead.

   Her grandparents were Robert Holcombe of Ball Creek, NC + Salley Holcombe; M.P. Blankenship + Elizabeth Blankenship—Elizabeth was not Cherokee.   All of them lived in Yancy co. NC in  1851.

   Samantha listed her aunts and uncles:  Leander Blankenship of Paint Fork, NC; Lovina Allen of Arlington WA; Millie Ballard of Ohio; James H. Holcombe of  Ball Creek NC; 

Milton P. Holcomb of Ball Creek, NC; and Gilbert L. Holcombe.  Gilbert was dead.

   Samantha signed her application; her witnesses were R. M. W. Yatt, who had known her for 20 years, and E. B. Metcalf, who had known her for 15.

   On Sept 15th, 1907  Samantha filed a supplemental application for her children:  Belle, Robert, Clella, Bonnie, and Earl Carter.  She commented that ''they were enrolled in 1901 in Buncombe county, NC.  Eastern Cherokee Indians but have never received anything.''

   Her witnesses were R. M. Yatt, who had known her for 20 years, and W. B. Anderson, who had known her for 6.

SOUTH CAROLINA:

N. Howell Carter, b 1855,  married  Sarah E. Woodall #25544  who filed on 17 June 1907 at Long Creek, Oconee county SC.  She was born in 1855 to John J. Woodall and Sarah Jones, who had six children.  John was born in Rabun county Ga; Sarah was born in Jackson county NC.

   Howell and Sarah have six children:  Thomas, Moses, Luther, Wm R., Lucas E., and Sarah E. Carter.  Her grandparents were Elias Jones and Rachel Bradley.  Rachel was born in NC and was ½ Cherokee.  The children of Elias and Rachel were Sarah Woodall, Maley  Jones, Elias Jones, Joseph Jones, Jesse Jones, and Manda Watkins.    Sarah is the niece of Jesse Jones,#10635.  See Misc Test p1546.   He said that Elias was born in NC and Rachel was b in SC....

    Sarah signed her application with an X.  Her witnesses were the Rev. Robert Cobb, who had known her for 40 years,  and Robert Dunlop, who had known her for 20.

GEORGIA:   

John LaFayette Carter, b 1884,   married  Alma Eunice Borron   #42636   21 Aug 1907       McWhorter, Carroll county Ga.   LASSETER case    No children.  She was born 25 Dec 1883 in Carroll county Ga.  Her parents were William Thomas Barron and Martha Maria Richards, both born in Carroll county; both still living.  Their children were:  Alwerc Maud Borron Mason, Winston Ga; Ella Savannah Borron Hudson, McWhorter Ga; Alma; Ida Alice Borron Edge, Neunor Ga; Nancy Elizabeth Borron, Whitesburg Ga; and William Henry Borron, Whitesburg Ga.

   Alma's paternal grandparents  were William Thomas Borron + Susan James. Her maternal grandparents were John Perry Richards + Nancy Elizabeth Camp. 

He was born in Guenette county Ga.  In 1851 they all lived in Carroll county Ga.

   Alma's aunts and uncles were James Andrew Borron, Susan Borron, Mery Texas Richards, Walter Jackson Richards, Robert Washington Richards, Sarah Caledone Richards,

Frances Alenedo Richards, William Beu James Richards, Julius Cecero Richards, and

Ladeon Elvira Richards.

   Nancy Elizabeth Camp's father was Wesley Camp, who married Marie Lasseter.  Her father was Beu James Lasseter/LaSeter, who was born in Rutherford county NC in 1778 and died in Carroll county Ga in 1869.

Henry Carter  married  Elizabeth Ash  #14411 , reject, who filed on 17 Jan 1907 at Higdons Store, Fannin county Ga.    She was born Apr 19, 1883 in Fannin county Ga.  She claimed thru her mother.  Her parents were David B. Ash + Nancy Foster.  They were born in Fannin county Ga.  Her mother was still living.  Elizabeth's siblings were Emley, Amanda, Mattie, Henry, and Wesley Ash, all living.

  Her grandparents were David W. Ash + Elizabeth Ash, born in NC; in 1851 they lived in Union county Ga.  Their children, Julia K. Watson, A.A. Crumley, N.S. Vaughn, R.E. Goss, as well as G. W. and M. A. Ash, also lived at Higdons Store.  Her other aunts and uncles were D.B. Ash; John M. Ash, who lived in Gilmer county Ga; and M.E. Queen, who lived in Union county Ga.

  Elizabeth stated that her great-grandmother, Elisabeth Davenport, whose maiden name was Long in English and Cumneheto in Indian, was born Nov 3, 1808.  

She was one fourth Cherokee Indian and lived in Union county Ga in 1857.     
  Elizabeth signed her application; her witnesses were J.S. Burnett, and Laura Burnett, who had known her for 15 years.

   On July 17 1907, Elizabeth Carter filed a supplemental application for her daughter, Dellie Carter.  Dellie's father, Henry Carter, an Eastern Cherokee, was 29 years old.  Under Remarks, she wrote:  "T. Higdon and W. M. Foster of Higdons Store Ga was personally acquainted with Elizabeth Davenport who was my Great Grandmother.  She was one fourth Cherokee Indian."  Elizabeth signed the application. 

   A General Affidavit was also filed by Willie Long, age 88, and William Long, age 83.  They said:  ''I, Wiley Long is Personally acquainted with Elisabeth Carter Who was The Daughter of Bascome Ash.  Bascome Ash was The Son of Elisabeth Ash.  Elisabeth Ash was The Daughter of Elisabeth Davenport Who was Our Sister  we are one fourth Cherokee Indian blood  Our Father Josiah Long Always Told us That he was a Half Cherokee and That his mother our Grand was a full Blood Cherokee Indian and her maiden Name was Nancy Bird''

   ''I, William Long is a Brother to Wiley Long and I know The Same facts as is Set forth in The above affidavit as has Been Read over to me by The Justice of Peace.''      Both Willie and William Long signed their affidavit with X marks. 

Andy Carter, b 1880   married  Amanda Ash  #14412  Reject, who applied 19 Jan 1907  Higdon's Store, Fannin county Ga.  Basically Amanda's information matched her sister's.  There is an affidavit by the Long brothers in her file, also.

     The two children of Amanda and Andy are Allae and Carl.  She signed both applications; the witnesses were John S. Bennett who had known her for 15 years, Laura Bennet, 5 years, W. H. Foster, 20 years, & W. T. Higdon, 20 years.  She had an attorney.

 she was a grandniece of #2398  Wiley Long, whose application is 33 pages long. Wiley had 5 siblings:  Elizabeth, William, Polly, Nancy, and John Long.  All are dead.  He claimed thru his father and his grandmother, Nancy Bird, who had several siblings.  Her Cherokee ancestor was Chesquiah. See #391 Tahl   The GM clerk said they failed to establish a connection.  There are several interesting affidavits:  Misc test p1434, 1438, and 1580.
Charley Thomas Carter, b 1878,  married  Frances Jane Richards Carter   #42645   21 Aug 1907     Whitesburg, Carroll county Ga.     LASSETER case.  One child:  Vera May Carter.  Frances was born 6 Aug 1878 in Carroll county Ga to Robert Washington Richards and Celia Jones, both born in Carroll county Ga; both still living.  She had 3 brothers living in Whitsburg, and five other siblings.  Frances claimed thru her father's line:  Richards, Camp, Lasseter.

    Her maternal grandparents were John James and Susan Allen of Carroll county Ga.

    Her paternal grandparents were John Perry Richards and Nancy Elizabeth Camp of Guinnet county Ga.  She had lots of aunts and uncles! 

Nancy Elizabeth Camp's parents were Benjamin and Marie Lasetter.  Benjamin was born in Rutherford county NC in 1778 and died in Carroll county Ga in 1869.

His father was Tobias LaSeter, who was at least a half-blood Cherokee and lived in Rutherford co, NC.

James A. Carter, b 6 Jan 1847,  married   Laura Ann Cox   #12948  who applied 8 Jan 1907 Dalton, Whitefield county Ga.  James was born in Polk county Ga; Laura was born in Gordon county Ga. In 1851 they lived in Murray county Ga.

   Laura Ann Cox gave her parents:  Jacob Cox, b Tenn + Delila Adaline Cox, b McCaslin county NC.  In 1851 they lived in Gordon county Ga. He died 14 Oct 1875; she is still living.  Laura's siblings were Margaret C. Cox, Mary Adaline Cox, Jehu Anderson Cox, George Washington Cox, Elvira Cox, Willie Cox—died in 1868, Sarah Cox, James Cox, and Cally Cox.

   Her aunts and uncles were:  Polly Suggs of Gordon county Ga; Jacob  who died; Apsion ''who is in Ala if living;''  Samuel Cox ''who is in Mississippi if living;'' and Lottie Cox, Gordon county Ga.    She signed her application; her witnesses were J.G. Fils and D.H.Brown, who had known her for 49 years.   There are affidavits in her file from Polly Suggs, who signed with and X, and from J.F. Edwards.  ''Grandpa left with Chief Van.  He went west and left his wife and eight children.''

     [COX file:  see #12945 George W. Cox and 21 other applicants  Misc test p1431 and #11180.    His grandfather, Jacob Cox, went with the Indians to the west in the fall of 1837 and never returned.  His grandmother lived in Gordon county GA in 1851.] 

    Some of James and Laura's children applied:   

1)   John W. Carter  #33171  applied 13 July 1907  at Tilton, Whitfield county Ga.  COX line He gave the same information as his mother supplied.  He was born 12/25/1875 in Gordon county Ga.  His wife, age 32, is Josie Carter.  No children.

2)   Robert Lee Carter  #33170    26 Dec 1906    Atlanta, Fulton county Ga.  COX line              b 27 Aug 1877 in Gordon county Ga.  His wife, Lillie, not Indian, was 21 years old.  Their children were James M. Carter and John W. Carter.  The rest of his application matched that given by his family.  He signed his application on 10 July 1907; his witnesses were John T. Bradford and Francis M. Stewart, who had known him for 30 years.  His attorney was Belva Lockwood. 

3)   James E. Carter  #33173    13 July 1907 Dalton, Whitfield county Ga.  COX line   He was born Jan 25 1879 in Gordon county Ga.  wife:  Dora, age 24; three children:  Sam, Paul, and J.D. Carter   parents:  James A. Carter + Laura Ann Cox.  Father born in Polk county Ga; mother born in Gordon county Ga.  Both still living.  In 1851, father lived in Murray county Ga.  Their children were John W. Carter, Robert L. Carter, James E. Carter, Jennie Carter, Wm D. Carter, and Mary Lou Carter.

   He claimed thru his maternal grandparents:  Jacob and Delilah Cox, whose children were Polly, Jacob, Sam, Absolem, Anderson, and Lotty.  The father of Jacob Cox was John Cox.   He signed his application; his witnesses were F.W. Elrod and J.L. Finecher, who had known him for 21 years.   
4)   William D. Carter  #33169   13 July 1907   Tilton, Whitfield county Ga  COX  line  Nephew of #12945; son of James A. Carter and Laura Ann Cox.  Willie was born 28 Dec 1883 in Whitfield county Ga.  He had four siblings:  John W. Carter, Robert Lee Carter, James E. Carter, and Mary Lou Carter.  He claimed thru his mother.  Her grandparents were Jacob Cox + Delilah A. Cox.  Their children were Polly Cox, Jacob Cox, Sam Cox, Absolem Cox, Anderson Cox, and Lotty Cox.  The father of Jacob Cox sr was John Cox.  William knew that his mother had applied.  He signed his application; his witnesses were F.W. Elrod and J.L.Fletcher, who had known him for 21 yrs.

5)   Mary Lou Carter  # 33175  applied 13 July 1907 at Tilton, Whitfield county Ga.  COX line  She married  Luther Joice, not Indian.  She was born 12 June 1886 in Whitfield county Ga to James A. Carter and Laura Ann Cox.  Luther and Mary Lou had two sons:  James C. Joyce and Walter L. Joyce.  She signed her application; her witnesses were F. W. Elrod and J. L. Fincher, who had known her for 21 years.
6)   Lewis Carter  #30146   2 July 1907  Rome, Floyd county Ga.   COX line                          born 28 March 1860, Cherokee, in Blount county Tenn to Tilman Carter and Sarah E. Pedd;     [Tilman was born in Blount county and died about 1864; Sarah was born in South Carolina; they died about 1864 at Morristown, Tenn].

    Lewis named his siblings:  Abner, Nelson, Roland, and Joseph T. Carter.  [The GM clerk added ''app #s 31930 or 3193, and 37032 or 33.'']  His paternal grandparents were Abner Carter and Jempie Carter, who were born in NC.  Their children were Tilman Carter, John Carter, and William Carter.  [The GM clerk added app # 25666 and 1228.]  He signed his application; his witnesses were John W. Fernandes, sr  and Oscar Fuquia, who had known him for 4 years. 

   The wife of Lewis Carter also applied:  Sarah Emery Carter #30147  1 July 1907  Rome, Floyd county Ga.     She was born 3 Aug 1871 in Pickens county Ga to John Emery and Emily J. Crider, both born in Pickens county Ga.  John died in Jan 1876; Emily is still living.  Their children were Sarah, Clark, and John Emery.

    Sarah's grandparents were Reuban Emery and Sally of South Carolina; they lived in Perkins county Ga in 1851.  Six of their children had died: John Emery,

Mary Kelly, Minerva A. Key, Catherine Key, and Nancy Rogers.  Four were still living:  Martha Lloyd of Jasper Ga--#12392; Malinda Stanfield of Silkenrock Ga--#8892; Talitha Key of Dalton Ga; and Charlie Emery of Cantor, Ga.   

    Lewis and Sarah's children were William Mitchell, Robert Lee, Nancy E. May, John F., Horace T., and  Herman B.Carter.    She signed her application with an X; her witnesses were Oscar Fuqua, who had known her for 4 years, and John W. Streetman, who had known her for 3.
look her up. Was she related to Sarah Parker + James Carter?

 John W. Carter b 1884, married  Martha A. Tucker  #426   applied 21 Sept 1906  at Cherry Log, Gilmer county GA.   Admitted; dau of #423, John M. Tucker, born in Georgia, whose parents were John Tucker or John ConSenior, a half-blood Cherokee Indian  [named Quh-La-Nut Tucker, supposedly either a Cherokee child adopted by a white family, or a white child adopted by a Cherokee family, per Yvonne.], and his wife Ruby Holloway, a white woman.  Ruby died in the west about 1885; John died in 1882.  Since John Tucker was half white or raised by whites, he was not sent on the Trail of Tears, although some of his half-siblings went:  see Misc Test p1401, an affidavit by Martha's father..

   Martha and her children were admitted to the Eastern Cherokee Tribe because her father was on the Swetland Roll.   Martha's mother was Margaret Robberson, born in NC.  Both are still living.  Their children are Sarah E, John W, Lidora A, Marie P, Martha A, and Louisy M. Tucker.  Three of them, Sarah, Martha, and Louisy, had died.  

   Martha's aunts and uncles, all dead, were Lienalber, Rebecca, Celia, Cornelia, and Mary Jane Tucker.  Mary Jane and Celia died in the west.  Martha's grandfather's children were James, Minerva, John, and Satiza.  

   Martha signed her application with an X.  Her witnesses were George W. Watkins and 

Larkin Holt, who had known her for 20 years. The notary was J.S. Smith, J.P.   

   On May 15 1907, Martha filed a supplemental application for her minor children, Margaret L. Carter and William H. Carter.  Their father, John W. Carter, a Cherokee Indian, was 25 years old.  She signed her application with an X.  The witnesses were Martha L. Smith and L. B. Holt, who had known her for 15 years.
Jasper Carter married Saphronia Dunegan  #27832. who applied 3 July at Marble Hill, Ticking county, Ga.  [a niece of #5271  Sufrona Lathem]   They had two daughters, Mindey and Josey Carter.  Saphronia was b 1867, a daughter of Ezekial Dunagan and Sarah Bryant of Hall county Ga.  She claimed through her maternal grandparents, Peter Bryant + Sally Frost, who lived in Hall county Ga in 1835.  Sally Frost was Cherokee; her mother was Ruth Tucker, whose line extends to Conenee:  Christiana Diana Chapman.

   Saphronia signed her application with an X; her witnesses were M.E. Chastain and J.T. Couch, who had known her for 40 years and 35 years.

The Tucker case is in #423 John M. Tucker  GA:  Consenior & Holloway line. 

Henry Carter, a Cherokee, married   Mary Hammond  #34054  who applied 27 July 1907 at Granoldsville, Oglethorpe county Ga.  She was born Oct 3rd  1873 in Oglethorpe county.  They have four children:  Lucy, Lillar May, Bennie, and Addie Carter.   Her parents' names were Remus and Caroline Hammond; Caroline's Indian name was Sorrow.  Remus was born in Jackson county, Ga and died in 1897.  Caroline was born in Oglethorpe county, Ga and is still living.  In 1851 they lived in Oglethorpe county.  Their children were Jeptha, Mary, Pura, and James Hammond; also Mary Carter, Tami Vinson, and Josie Kidd.

   Her father's father was Jasper Hammond; her mother's parents were Jesse M. Hammond + Mary Sorrow.  They were born in Oglethorpe county Ga, where they lived in 1851.  their children were:  Nicey Bridger, Mary Jane Wilson, Amerinthe Ward, Sarah Ann Sorrow, Elizabeth Ruff; Dora Burt, John Henry Hammond, Mattie Stalnaker, and Caroline Hammond.

   She gave her pedigree:  Parents-- Remus and Caroline Hammond; grandparents—Jesse + Mary Hammond; great-grandparents—William + Lucy Sorrow; great-great-grandfather—William Sorrow of Cherokee Indian descent.      Mary signed her application with an X; her witnesses were T. G. Lerter and William Stewart, who had known her for 10 years and 57 years.

    The clerk noted that she was a cousin of #25273, James Hoyt Sorrow. [A lot of Sorrows applied.] 

Willis M. Carter  #21174  applied 24 Mar 1907  Lafayette, Walker county Ga.  He was born July 10th, 1878 in Lafayette.  He was married to Sallie Marsh, age 22, not Indian; they have 5 children.  He claims thru his great grandmother on his mother’s side, who was Queen Carter.   His parents are Jeff Carter, d 1897, and Julie Richardson, still living.  Both were born in Lafayette Ga.  Willis named his siblings:  Sylvia, Richard, Minnie, Eva, Sam, Shannon, and Andrew Carter.

   His grandfather was Anderson Carter, born in Wilkesboro, Wilkes county, NC.  In 1851 they lived in Lafayette, Ga.  Anderson's mother was Queen [Oreen?] Carter.    Willis signed his application; his witnesses were W.A. Foster and S.J. Shaw, who had known him for 25 years.

   On June 27 1907, Willis filed a supplemental application for his five minor children:  Dottie, Chartie, Nellie, Archie, and Luther Carter.  His witnesses were S.J. Shaw and J.A. Shaw, who had known him for 24 and 16 years.
   In response to the GM query letter, Willis replied in March 1908  ''was a small boy residing at Lafayette Ga in 1882.  dont think my parents knew any thing of these claims.    I suppose my Father who was only a boy slave in Wilkesboro, Wilkes county N.C.  knew nothing of this.  My grandparents were living at that time at Wilkesboro Wilkes county, N.C. 1834-35.  Both my parents and Grand parents were slaves to white people.(over)''  The next page was not in the file. The rejection letter of June 10, 1909 was not picked up and was returned to the office.

John LaFayette Carter, age 23, married  Alma Barron #42636   21 Aug 1907  McWhorter, Carroll county,  Ga.  They had no children.  She was born 25 Dec 1883 in Carroll county Ga,

a daughter of William Thomas Borron and Martha Maria Richards.  She claimed thru her father and her grandfather  and her great-grandmother, who was the daughter of Wesley Camp who married Marie Lasseter, whose father was Beu James LaSeter, who was born in Rutherford

county NC in 1778 and died in Carroll county Ga in 1869.  Beu James Lassetter's father was Tobias Lassetter.  He was at least a halfblood Cherokee and lived in Rutherford county, NC.

Joe Carter, age 25, married  Ella Wilkerson  #41078   26 Aug 1907  Pendergrass, Jackson county  Georgia.   Her brother, Steven W. Wilkerson, filed #37198.    Ella was born 31 Dec 1884 in Hall county, Ga.  Joe and Ella's children were Clara, Lena, and Clarence. 

    Ella's parents were Riley Wilkerson and his neice, Martha Pruitt.  He was born in Gwinnet county Ga; she was born in Hall county Ga; they were both still living.  Riley and Martha's children were:  Steven, Alex, Mary, Nancy, Ella, and Keel Wilkerson.

   Ella's paternal grandparents, Riley Wilkerson's parents, were William Wilkerson + Fannie.  Martha Pruitt's parents were Stephen Pruitt + Elizabeth W. Wilkerson.

   Ella claimed thru Sarah Brunner, who lived with the Cherokee tribe in Habersham county GA in 1828, altho they were recognized as white people. 

   Sarah married Riley Wilkerson; their son Riley married Martha Pruitt.  Martha and Riley's dau Ella Wilkerson and son Steven W. Wilkerson [#37198] were grouped with 41075-6-7-8-9-80-81-82-37392-3  40319  40312-13 35538 etc....   Ella signed her application with an X; her witnesses were N. H. Perry and R. Inals, both of whom signed their names with an X and who had known her for 10 years.  Her attorney was Judge F. M. Loden of Gainsville Ga.

Benjamin Lee Carter,  #20227   applied 7 Mar 1907  at Lafayette, Walker county Ga.  He was born in Lafayette Georgia in 1847 to Anderson Carter and Slyvia; both of them were born in Wilkerson NC; he died on 15 Dec 1898; she died about 34 years ago.  Their children, besides Benjamin, were Jeff. Alonza, Corni, Mary, Lilla, and Malie.  Benjamin, who never knew his grandparents, claimed through his father's mother:  Queen, an Indian woman who was a slave to white people.  Queen's Carter husband was white or part Indian.  Benjamin did not know any more about them, nor did he know the names of his aunts and uncles.

   Benjamin was a slave who married Fannie Carter, ''born May 1865,'' now age 74.  She was not Indian.  Their children were  Duke, Mattie, Mary, Clarence, Fletcher, Ethis, Horace, Jewel, and Alice.   He signed his application with an X; his witnesses were S. J. Shaw and John A. Shaw, who had known him for 25 years.   Was this a Thrasher Gibson case?
ALABAMA:
Granville W. Carter  #31920  8 July 1907   Scottsboro, Johnson county  Ala.  

 He was born Jan 4, 1869 in Scotsboro Ala.  His wife, Eliza T. Sunset Carter, is a Cherokee.  They have 4 children:  Kate Carter Reed, Ida Carter, Joseph Carter, Hugh Carter, and Add Carter.  Granville's parents were William A.B. Carter and Martha Smith, born in Patrick county Virginia and East Tennessee, Miegs county.  In 1851, he lived in Pope county Illinois and she lived in Meigs county Tenn.  She died 20 March 1907.  

   Granville's siblings are:  William A. Carter, b 1871; John A. Carter, d 10 May 1882 [left one child, Maud]; James M. Carter, d Nov 19, 1865;  Hugh C. Carter,  d July 27, 1891; Joseph W. Carter, b July 20, 1874 lives in Scotsboro Ala; and Samuel H. Carter, b July 6, 1876.   Granville's grandparents were William Carter and Gregory Smith.  Gregory Smith's grandfather was John Smith. Gregory's children included Jesse Smith and Margaret Smith; William's children were W.A.B.Carter, John Carter, Fannter Carter, Elizabeth Carter, Patsy Carter, and Polly Carter.  Granville claimed thru his mother's Smith line.  He signed his application; his witnesses were 

P. L. Sorrell, who had known him for 18 years, and W.J. Money, who had known him for 11.
Joseph J. Carter  #31930     13 July 1907  Scottsboro, Jackson County Ala.  He was born Feb 20, 1874 in Jackson county Ala.  His wife, Mary Carter, a Cherokee, is age 31.  They have 4 children:  Elizabeth, Frank, Lettie, and Harry Carter.  His application mirrors that of his brother.  He signed his application with an X.  His witnesses were Hugh Boyd, who had known him for 13 years, and W.R. Schultz, who had known him for 10.
Samuel H. Carter  #31917   13 July 1907  Scottsboro Ala.   He was born Aug 6, 1876 in Jackson county Ala. His wife, Janice Carter, a Cherokee, is 28.  Their 5 children are Lempie, Monroe, William, Samuel, and John Carter.  His application mirrors that of his brother.  He signed his application with an X.  His witnesses were Hugh Boyd, who had known him for 13 years, and W.R. Schultz, who had known him for 10.  His father, William A.B. Carter, testified at Samuel's interview on 1 July 1908.
William A. Carter   #30580   13 July 1907   Scotsboro Ala.  He was born March 6, 1871 in Jackson county Ala.  His wife Lucy was born in 1876.  They have  5 children:  Hattie, Albert, Alma, Annie, and Wallis Carter.  The rest of his application, which he signed, was identical to his brother's, #31920.  His witnesses were W. M. Walker, who had known him for 28 years, and Edward Boyd, who had known him for 5.  His lawyer from Chatanooga TN died and his case went to an L..C. Coulson in Scotsboro Ala.
   These are all sons of Wm AB Carter and Martha Smith. He testified, misc test p861.  They lived in Scotsboro AL which is about 60 mi SW of Chatanooga TN. Two of the Smith relatives also applied:  Margaret, #31970, and Mollie, #30540.  Martha's grandfather was John Smith (b calc 1780) who md Kissey or Tizzir, of Suquatchie Valley.  I have a Rachel Smith, b 1771 in Knox county TN md to James Bray 29 June 1797, and an Elizabeth Bray b 1767 NC who md a Smith, and a Vienna Burcham Smith  b 1850 VA who md 1855 Johiel Carter of IN.  I have a Martha Smith who md a Beck bef 1851.  One of her daus md a Choctaw named Ward.  This Martha's mother was b in GA and d in IT in 1854.  Her name was Sah-Kin-ah and she md, first, a Carter; their son was Josiah Carter.   SahKinah Smith is  #1854.    The 1835 census of Cherokees had 3 Smith families in AL, 9 in GA, 3 in NC, and 2

in TN.
Maud Carter Ray # 30579   14 July 1907   Dutton, Johnson county Ala.  cousin of #31917 and claims through the same ancestors.  She was born 6 Feb 1883 in Johnson county Alabama to John Carter and Cassie McKinney, both born in Johnson county Ala; he died in 1882 and she is living.  Maud's husband is Henry Ray, b 1883 in Ala.  She has one child by her first husband:  Lonnie Hughes.

   Maud has no siblings; her grandparents are W.A.B. Carter and Martha Carter, who were born in Johnson county Ala.  Their children were:  John L. Carter, James N. Carter, Joseph Carter, Samuel H. Carter, and G.W. Carter.  The last 3 living in TN.   
TENNESSEE:

James Carter,   #19886 married  Dorcas Montgomery Carter #19887; both filed on 26 March 1907 at  Cleveland, Bradley county Tenn.  The clerk noted on his card:  ''Failed to appear at Cleveland Tenn June 24-25 '08.  Probably Slaves.  See Letter.  Said by the deputy clerk at Cleveland to have been slaves.''   Indian Thomas case.  He was born Sept 1850 in Cherokee county NC.  He claimed through his grandmother on his Mother's side:  ''Maiden name, Mazy Thomas.  She was a full blood Cherokee Indian.  Also claim through my grandmother Susan Carter:  She was a half blood Cherokee Indian.  And I claim by my father, Joseph Carter, a quarter roon Cherokee Indian.''

   James' father, Joseph Carter, was born in McMinn county Tenn, and died in 1861.  His mother, Susan Carter, nee Thomas, was born in Cherokee county NC.  She died in 1896.  They were not enrolled.  He lists his siblings and said their birth dates were unknown:  Silvia Carter, Lydia Carter, Jane Carter, all deceased; Charlotte Carter, Frank Carter, Joseph Carter, William Carter, Jackson Carter, Henry Carter.

   He did not know who his paternal grandparents were.  His maternal grandparents, Jim and Susan Thomas, both born in Cherokee county NC; both living there in 1851.  Their children were:  Susan Carter, died 1891, and Alex Thomas, residence unknown.

   In the Remarks section of his application, James Carter wrote:  ''My grandmother on my mother side was a full blood Cherokee Indian.  She talked the Cherokee language, and her hair was long, straight, and black.  My mother was a half blood and my father was a quarter-roon Cherokee.  Each of them spoke the Cherokee language, and looked just like the Cherokee Indians.''

  He signed his application with an X.  His witnesses were Benjamin Rogers, who had known him for 30 years, and D. G. McLain, who had known him for 20.  Benjamin added this note:  ''I do not know anything in regard to the statements in this affidavit only as stated by affiant and have never heard his veracity questioned.'' 

  On March 26, 1907, James Carter filed a supplemental application #19886 for his minor children.  His wife was Dorcas Carter, a Cherokee.  Their children were:  Emma, Willie Belle, and Charley Carter.   The witnesses were E.A. Pickle, who had known him for 20 years, and J. G. Pickle, who had known him for 25.

   There are several letters in his file.  In one of them he said,  ''...my mother...was not enrolled because she left north Carolina and came to McMinn Tennessee before the enrollment....None of my Parents or ancestors were ever Slaves.  Neither was I... My parents were living in McMinn Tennessee in 1835/6 and in 1846  But my Grand father was living with the tribe at that time also my Grand Mother Mary Thomas and they were both Full Blood Indians.  My Grand father, Indian Thomas, was killed when they were removing the tribe..."   Note:  Indian Thomas is in the records of the NC  BIA of Fold3..
James Carter's wife, Dorcas Montgomery, applied on the same day.  She was born 1848 in Blount county Tenn to Evy Montgomery and Rachel Julian, [both born in Tenn, both died in 1854.]  In 1851, her father was living in Blount county and her mother was living in McMinn county.  She claimed by right of her grandmother on her mother's side:  Indian Julian, full blood Cherokee.  She knew nothing more about her grandparents except that ''My grandmother on my mother's side was a full blood Cherokee.  She lived in the house with us.  And I know she was a full blood Cherokee.  My mother was a quarter roon.  They had high cheekbones and straight black hair.  My grandmother talked the Cherokee language and so did my mother.''

   Dorcas signed her application with an X.  Her witnesses were D. G. McLain, who had known her for 45 years, and D.A. North, who had known her for 20.  There are three letters in her file. In one, she stated that the names of her grandparents on her Father's side were Julians.  ''My Grandmother on my mother's side was July Ann.  This is all the name I have for her.  She was a full blooded Cherokee Indian and came from Cherokee county NC to Blunt county Tennessee and from there to Georgia.  I never knew my grandfather on this side of the house.  ...My father was a slave.  My mother was also.  I don't know of any others being slaves but do know that my Grandmother on my mother's side was a free woman and that she was a full blooded Indian and a Cherokee and was not a slave.  She used Indian language and taught it to me.'' 

       [I think this means that her paternal grandmother married a negro.]   

John Carter, b 1840, married Catherine Hoyl Carter  #23747 who filed on  4 June 1907 at Athens,  McMinn county Tenn.  Cathern was born in McMinn county Tennessee and was married to John Carter, age 67.  She claimed through her grandfather, who was a full blooded Cherokee Indian, and that her mother, her father, and herself are also part Indian.  

   She gave the names of her parents:  Sam Hoyl and Pricey Cob.  Both of them born in Tennessee and both of them living there in 1851.  Her father died in 1855 and her mother died in 1888.     She named her siblings:  Manda Hoyl, dead;  and Alfred Hoyl.

   On her mother's side, she said that her grandmother was Pollie Hoyl, born in Tennessee and living there in 1851.  The names of their children, all dead, who had lived in Tenn:  Pricy Cob, 

Amy  Cobb,                                                                            Cathern signed her application.

Her witnesses were Hattie Hoyle, who had known her for 18 years, and Lucy Cox, who had known her for 24.

   In her interview,  Misc Test p563, she stated that she was ''about 60 years of age, was born quite a little while before the war.  A man by the name of Cox first owned me and he gave me to a man by the name of Greene.  A man by the name of Hoyle owned my father.  Cox owned my mother.  My father was about ½ Indian.  My mother was a full blooded colored woman.  My father was Cherokee.  My husband is a colored man.''

George C. Carter #43102   21 Aug 1907   Knoxville, Knox county Tenn.  see letter filed herein, marked ''ExA''   Back of card says:  failed to appear at Knoxville Tenn June 29 '08.

   George said he was born in 1858, Greene county Tenn.  Married to Ellen Carter, age 48, not Indian.   No children.  He never knew his father, where or when he was born or lived or died.  His mother was Elizabeth Oliphant, nee Carter.  She was born in Hawkins county Tenn, and was living in Greene county Tenn is 1851.

   He listed his siblings:  John Carter, Joe Carter, William Carter, all dead.  His maternal grandparents were Joe and Katie Lauterback, who were born in Hawkins county Tenn.  In 1851 he was dead and she was in Hawkins county Tenn.  Their children were:  Elizabeth Lauterbach Oliphant; Eliza Lauterbach; Siskey Lauterbach; William Lauterbach; and Jeff Lauterbach.

   George gave his ancestry:  ''Joe Lauterbach, Katie Lauterbach, Elizabeth Oliphant.  My grandmother, Katie Lauterbach, was a half-blood Cherokee Indian.''  

   He signed his application with an X.  His witnesses were Jesse Evans, who had known him for 10 years, and P. E. J. Yett, who had known him for 30.

   Several letters from the GM office were returned unclaimed.  In Oct 1908 his attorney, Belva Lockwood, had him in her office where he replied:  “Katie Lauterback, my grandmother, was living in Hawkins county Tenn in 1835-6 and 1846.  She was known as a half Cherokee....Katie Lauterback was a slave.  I was also a slave.”  [So Katie's father was a Cherokee.]
Sam Carter b 1841,  married Sallie Carter  #37033  filed 22 Aug 1907  Jellico, Campbell county  Tenn.  Misc Test p817.  Sallie stated that she was about 51 years old, born abt 1856 in Greenville    Tennessee, on Chucky River and that her husband, Sam Carter, who has been dead about 13 years, was 53 years old when he died.  He was Cherokee and the phonetic spelling of his mother's name was  Sooky de Loche.    Sallie listed her children:  Delia Carter Kimbro; Bisol Carter [crossed out]; Harry Carter; Arthur Carter; George Carter.

   She named her parents:  John Rice [Indian] and Polly Brumly.  She stated that Polly was white and that Polly's father, David Brumly, stole John Rice from the Cherokee Indians when young and raised him with his, Brumley's, own children.  John Rice later, without marrying Polly Brumly, became father of her child, affiant Sallie Carter.  John Rice was born in Cherokee, across the mountain from Greenville, Tennessee.  Polly Brumley was born on Chucky River, near Greenville, Tennessee.  In 1851, both of them were living at Chucky River.  John Rice died when Sallie was 2 or 3 years old, and Polly Brumly died when Sallie was 7 years old.  Sallie was their only child.

   Sallie signed her name with an X.  Her witnesses were Myrtle Taylor, who had known Sallie for 3 years, and John Johnson, who had known her for 30.

   In her interview, Sallie stated that she claimed through her father; her mother was white.  ''My father was a full blooded Cherokee.  I was never held as a slave.  My grandfather Brumley—my mother's father, was a slave-holder.  My father was born and raised in NC but I don't know what part. I didn't know who my father was until my mother died, and as she was dying she told me who my father was.  My husband was colored and part Indian.  I had one daughter, Delia, who married a colored man....I am recognized as an Indian, but go with the colored people in this community.  Don't know whether my father had any brothers or sisters.  I had a couple of half brothers on my father's side by the name of Donahue, Jimmie and George.''   

Winfield F. Carter  #31679   26 July 1907  Knoxville Tenn. His application was grouped with #31680 Catharine Henry   and labeled ''Cox file.''

   Winfield was born in Carter county Tennessee, was 47 years old, married to Ellen Carter, who was Cherokee.  He listed one child:  Sam Carter.  Winfield's parents were Samuel Carter  b Carter county Tenn, d before 1898, and Susannah Hicks (son of John Hicks)  b Johnson county Tenn, d 1867.  In 1851 they were both living in Carter county Tenn.  His great-grandmother was Hebie Walden.

   His siblings were:  Harry Carter, lives in Johnson City, Tenn; Delia Bimbrough, Arthur Carter, and George Carter—all in Jellico, Tenn.

   His grandparents were Thomas Carter, b in NC, + Susan deLoche, b in Tenn.  In 1851 they were living in Carter county Tenn.  Their child, Catharine Henry, lives in Knoxville Tenn.   He signed his application.  His witnesses were Vance Carter, who had known him for 20 years, and Ella Hatfield, who had known him for 15.

   He has several letters in his file, and one that was put into his daughter's file: ''... My mother and grandfather on mother's side resided in Elizabethtown, Carter county Tenn.  Mother's name Susan Hicks; grandfather Johnathan Hicks, and my Grandmother and father side, came from Sullivan county to Elizabethtown, Carter county some years before 1834.  Her name was Susan Walden.  These people were from one half to two thirds Cherokee Indians, and white, and they never were slaves.....''     Winfield filed an exception and testimony was taken from Henry and Julia Alexander.  A US Senator, Robert L. Taylor, wrote on his behalf also.

Catharine Carter Henry  #31680  27 July 1907   Knoxville Tenn.  

Age 68, born in Carter county Tenn.  Widowed of William Henry, a Cherokee.  Their children are:  Charley Henry—dead, left 2 children; Robert Henry—dead, left one child; George Henry, and William Henry.  Also a son, by her first husband,  John Hunter.

    Her parents were Thomas Carter and Susanna Carter, who lived in Carter county Tennessee in 1851.  He died in 1866; she died in 1897.  Catharine had nine siblings, all deceased.  She traced her line:  Thomas Carter + Susannah deLoche, John Deloche, Hebe/Febe Walden.

   Catharine signed her application with an X.  Her witnesses were Diana Turk and Rachel Henry, who had known her for 30 years and 10 years.

Lynn [Jim?] C. Carter, b 1871,  married   Rachel Kirkland Carter #43225 who filed 31 Aug 1907 at Athens, McMinn county Tenn.  She gave her English name as Rachel Carter and her Indian name as Rachel Kirkland.  She was born May 10, 1881 in Tennessee; her husband was a Cherokee.  She listed their children:  Eothed, Mathew, E. Stella, and Jesse Joseph Carter.

   Rachel's parents were Joel R. Kirkland and Polly Johnson, both born in Tenn and living there in 1851, and both still living.  She named her siblings:  Isabella, Christoret, Sarah, Martha, Jessee, Marinid, Ceidrella, Artie, and Loa Kirkland.

   She named her ancestors:  My father, Joel Kirkland; his father, Jessie Kirkland; his father, Joel Kirkland; his father, Jim Kirkland, and his father, Nathan Kirkland, a Cherokee Chief. 

   Rachel signed her application.  Her witnesses were W. H. Melton, who had known her for 14 years, and Luther Byrum, who had known her for 10.
ARKANSAS:  
Albert Carter, born 1848, married   Louisa Buttry  #3029  who filed on  10 Nov 1906 at  Bentonville, Benton county Arkansas.  She was born 17 May 1854 in Benton county Arkansas.  She claimed thru her mother, Margaret Martin, who was a daughter of Susan Martin, who was a daughter of Dennis Wolf. [Dennis Wolf case is at her cousin's application # 551, Edwin Lawson.]

   Louisa's father was John Buttry.  Both of her parents were born in Hawkins county Tenn.  In 1851, they were living in Benton county Arkansas.  He died on Oct 27, 1905; she is still living.  Their children were: Jack Buttry, Louisa, Buttons Johnson, William A. Buttry, Caldonia Buttrey, James S. Buttry, Eliza J. Brown, Martha R. Dox, John H. Buttry, Louis C. Buttry, and Minnie B. Mosley.

   Louisa's grandparents were William Buttry + Louisa Buttry; William Martin + Susan Martin.  They were born in Tenn.  They lived in Benton county Arkansas in 1851.  Their children were: Hihala Lawson, Pollie Wilson, Thomas Martin, Moses Martin, Martha Mitchel, Catherine Wamm, Alford Martin, Eliza Wood, Margaret Buttry.      Louisa signed her application; her witnesses were W. S. Patterson and F. M. Harris, who had known her for 25 years and 22 years. 

   The GM clerks rejected her because they sent a letter to Beasley, Bentonville, NC and it was not picked up.

    A son of Albert and Louisa also applied:  

Earnest Elmer Carter #3025   11 Nov 1906   Bentonville, Benton county Arkansas

He was born June 15, 1876 at Pea Ridge, Arkansas.  His wife was Agnes Carter, age 33.  He claimed thru his mother and was a Wolf case.  His parents were Albert Carter and Louisa Buttry; he was born in Walker county Ga; she was born in Benton county Arkansas.  In 1851, his father was living in Madison county, -----.  Both are still living.  He had no brothers or sisters.  He said that his paternal grandparents were John + Elizabeth Carter—he born in Va; she born in Tenn; in 1851 they lived in NC.   His maternal grandparents, Jno + Margaret Buttry, were born in Tenn; in 1851 they lived in Ark.    Their children were Jack Buttry, Lunmia Johnson, William A. Buttry, Caldonia Buttry, John H. Buttry, Louisa, James S. Buttry, Susie Tanner, L.C. Buttry, 

Josie Brown, Martha R. Dox, and Minnie D. Medlar.      He signed his application E. E. Carter; his witnesses were W. S. Patterson and F. M. Harris, who had known him for 20 and 15 years.

On June 22 1907, he filed a supplemental application for his minor children:  Morris A. Carter, Flossie M. Carter, and Earnest L. Carter.  The witnesses were J. J. Patterson and D. R. Hall, who had known him for 10 years and 15 years.

James T. Carter, age 42, a Cherokee, married   Molly/Mary Ridling   #21635  who filed on  21 Feb 1907 at Midland, Sebastion county Arkansas.  POINDEXTER-PLEDGE-DONAHUE case.   Their children were Cordia, Lulu, Edith, and Ernie Carter.  

   Mary, who was b 24 June 1877, was a sister of #21632, Martha Hudgins, and #21633 Era Cumpton.  Their father was William Riddling; their mother was Minerva Parish, a descendant of Garland Parish. 

   Mary signed her application; her witnesses were William Paterson, who had known her for 12 years, Mrs. Laura Cox, who had known her for 9 years, and Mr. & Mrs. C. N. Pate, who had known her for 4 years. 
James Robert Carter, age 28,  married   Olive Rebecca McGavick  #19111  who filed on  

1 Mar 1907  at Nettleton, Craighead county ARK.  She was a sister of #19106 Robert  E. L. McGavack; Her parents were Joseph Carrel McGavick and Harriet Ames Evans.  She claimed thru her mothers' Evans & Watts ancestors.  Olive was born 20 May 1886 in Arkansas; her parents were born in Tennesee.   She signed her application; her witnesses were T. N. Heath, who had known her for 14 years, and J. W. Ray, who had known her for 12.
INDIAN TERRITORY:  
Note:  There was an Edwin Lawson, #551, who claimed through Dennis Wolfe, his great-grandfather.  See Misc Test p2822.  I recorded this information in my database at Rebecca Hornbuckle Wolf of NC.

There is a faint, very long list of related applicants in Edwin Lawson's file  READ THEM

Andy Carter #36577  filed on 20 Aug 1907 at Hulbert  OK  On Dawes Freedmen Roll #1395.  Both parents were slaves:  See letter.  

Parents:  Lenke Carter & Marida Gehesde, slaves of Indians.

Grandparents:  Andy said they were from NC, and were Indians, not slaves.

Wife:  Florence Carter, age 32, Cherokee.  Six children:  Ellis, Elnora, Andy Jackson, Willie, Marido, and John Carter.

Charles D. Carter  #9593  filed on 7 Jan 1907 at Ardmore  OK   He is on the Dawes Roll:  #1527  Chicasaw.  His deceased wife was Ada G. Carter.   His father, Benjamin W. Carter of the East Cherokee Nation, enrolled on the Emigrant Roll and moved to OK before 1851.  His mother, Serena J. Guy, was a Chickasaw.  Brother:  John E. Carter.  Grandparents:  David & Jennie Carter nee Riley.  Their children:  Richard, David Tecumpseh, Oceola, Nannie Carter Brower, Thomas Jefferson Carter, John R. Carter, Diana Parrot, Benjamin W. Carter, and Sallie F. Gourd.  Great-grandparents:  Richard and Diana Riley who lived in the Cherokee Nation East in 1835; great uncle: Alexander Carter.  Great great uncle:  Madison Riley.  Note:  He was a descendant of Nancy Ward.
John E. Carter, age 36, married to Nancy C. Newton, #28813  who filed on 17 June 1907 at Etta, Cherokee county, OK, and filed a supplemental application

for their children on 27 June 1907.  She was admitted:  Niece of #1379, Cicero Johnson, and claims through the same source.  Nancy was born 11 Oct 1875 in OK.  Her ancestors were from Cherokee county NC:  NEWTON-JOHNSON line.  John and Nancy's six children were:  James, Lula, Albert, Sarah May, Houson, and John E. Carter.  Note:  I had originally recorded #26313 for Nancy C. Carter; that number actually was Emma C. Woodall's, of the Woodall line of GA & TX... perhaps related to Adaline Woodall of the Thrasher Gibson family in Tenn?
Luke Carter  #11494  applied 16 Jan 1906 at Hulbert, Indian Territory.   Slave; on Freedmen Roll, #1505.  Parents:  Richard Carter & Mary Gipe, who were born in the Old Nation.  Wife:  Ellen Poorboy, Cherokee, app #13034.  She was admitted:  Sister of #3284—Thomas Poorboy.  

Luke and Ellen had three children:  Andy, David, and Mary Carter.  [This application lists the same ancestors as Charles D. Carter, #9593.]
David Carter #36578  Hulbert OK  20 Aug 1907 Son of Luke Carter #11494.  See #36577 Andy Carter.  David was born 13 Feb 1882 in Talequah district.  Not married.  Siblings:  Andy Carter, born 26 Oct 1869, Mary Carter, b 13 Nov 1855.  Aunts & uncles:  Madison Carter, Jenny Carter, Nellie Carter, Richard Carter.  Grandparents:  Richard Carter + Marry Carter, born in Tennessee.  ''Marry had but one child.''

J. C. Carter, age 26, Eastern Cherokee, married to  Maud Prater  #44516  Madill OK who filed on 25 Feb 1908   Reject:  dau of #30926—Joseph O. F. Prater and Octavie P. Ellis of Texas.  KENDRICK line.  J. C. and Maud had two children:  Liela Esther Carter and Earl Carter.  Maud signed her application; her witnesses were W. C. Benson and L. C. Merriman, who had known her for 1 year. 
Carrie Etta Eiffert Carter #25074  Ft. Gibson OK  12 June 1907  admitted:  dau of #1275—Washington Henry Eiffert, who is on the Chapman Roll #1564.  She was born in 1877 in the Cherokee Nation.  Six siblings.  Her mother was Margaret A W Morgan.  Her grandparents, Gideon + Margaret Morgan, were born in Tennessee and the Cherokee Nation East.  HAWK, LINDSEY, McCLELLAN line.  Her unnamed Carter husband was deceased. 

 Two children:  Sue Amy Carter and James R. Carter.

William F. Carter, white, age 45,   married  Indianola M. Stephens  #29055  who filed at  Afton OK on 12 July 1907.    She was admitted.  [Grouped with #1953, Sara Steven Hicks, born 1832 in Georgia.]  She was born in Park Hill, Cherokee Nation, on 27 May 1866.  She had five siblings.  Enhance the app; it is very faint.    Indianola and William Carter had seven children.
Indianola signed her application; her witnesses were C. W. Livingston, who had known her for 5 years, and Edgar Marrs, who had known her for 20.                
Will F. Carter, born in Arkansas, was the father of  Florence E. Stephens  #27185  who filed at Afton OK on 27 June 1907.   She was admitted because she was the dau of #29055, grdau of #1953, and included in app #29055.  Her mother, Indianola M. Stephens, was born in IT.  Florence was born in Vineta, Indian Territory, 23 March 1887.  Not married.  Grandparents were Spencer Stephens [born in IT] + Sarah Foreman, born in Georgia.  Sarah's father was white and her mother was a full blooded Cherokee.  Florence's siblings were Mai M. Carter, born 25 Dec 1888; Will S. Carter, b 8 Apr 1890; Allie A. Carter, b 25 Feb 1893; Frank Carter, b 7 July 1895; Clifton R. Carter, b 4 Aug 1902; and Sarah Elizabeth Carter, b 13 Sept 1904.
Mai M. Carter  #39474  Afton OK  26 Aug 1907   Admitted:  dau of #29055; grdau of #1953.

Henry Carter  married Mary Whitefield  #2222 who filed at  Muskogee OK on 22 Oct 1907  [her GM application was grouped with #38356-7, Mary Burton, Creek Indian, nee Tiger ''WeKi'']    She was on the Drennan Roll:  Ill #179.

   Mary Carter lived in the Creek Nation; born in Illinois District of Indian Territory; her father was on the 1851 roll; he was a Whitefield from Tennessee.  She is of the Barrow-Whitfield line.  She has a brother named William Pottes Whitefield who was born in 1848 and died in 1900.  Her husband. Henry Carter, was about 60 years old when he died.

John B. Carter  married Mary B. Tyner  #25569  who filed at  Campbell OK on  17 June 1907  She was admitted:  Cousin of Fannie Cummins #1963.    TYNER-MATHEWS line of East TN & Missouri.  Mary and John had seven children:  M. L. Carter #29438; P. J. Carter #29439; A. E. Carter #2655; and two sets of twins:  O. B. Carter & C. W. Carter #144mm;

D. L. Carter & N. M. Carter #154mm.

William Carter, age 22, married to Minnie E. Tyner  #27756 who filed 22 June 1907 at Campbell, OK.  No children.  She was admitted:  Cousin of Fannie Cummins #1963. 
TYNER line.
Mose Carter. 38 years old, Cherokee, married to  Oma Thompson  #29312 who filed at

Ft Gibson OK on 13 July 1907.   Her ancestors were slaves.  She is an enrolled Cherokee Freedmen #1158.  Misc Test p3155;  grouped with #38525, #38536, #38527, and #41781.  Oma's parents were Bert & Lydia Thompson of Tennessee.  Her mother was a full blood Indian, parents unknown.  Lydia was not a slave.  Oma had four siblings.  Mose and Oma had three children:  Peggie, Clifton, and Elenora Carter.  Oma signed her application; her witnesses were Polly Ross and Alex Nivens, who had known her for 20 years.
Arch Carter, age 67, Cherokee, married to  Sarah Lowry  #43350  who filed at Ft Gibson OK on 31 Aug 1907.   She was a slave, on the Freedmen roll.  Born 1851 in Fort Gibson, IT.  Her parents were Jess Lowrey and Lidia Ross.  He died about 1891; she died about 1876.  Sarah had two siblings.  Her grandparents were George + Nan Lowrey and Jess Ross, born in Georgia.  Two aunts.  Arch and Sarah had six children:  Martha, Mose, Joe, Minnie, Matelda, and Archie Carter.  She signed her application with an X; her witnesses were John Burgess and Polly Ross, who had known her for 20 years.

NEBRASKA:

James Washington Carter, age 62, married  Eliza Jane Uland  #20120  who filed at Thedford, Thomas county Neb  on 20 March 1907.  She was a 1st cousin twice removed of  #2904 Bertha Tabor, and claims thru the same source:  her maternal grandmother, Lettie Mays Bays of VA, who died in 1871.  Eliza was born in 1852, near Saulisbery, Green county Indiana to John Uland, who died in 1862, and Mary Bays, who died a few years later.   Eliza signed her application; her witnesses were John H. Evans and Chris Fulz, who had known her for 3 years.    
INDIANA:

Wm Carter, b 1859, married  Lavenia Adell Tanner  #38747 who filed on 26 Aug 1907 at  Indianapolis, Marion county Indiana.   grouped with Bluford S. Mooreland #38748.  Lavenia was born 11 June 1859 in Munser county Ohio to Othello Wilson Tanner and Angeline D. Kendall; both parents were born in Ohioand lived there in 1851.  He died in 1877; she died in 1882.  Lavenia's siblings are:  Othello W. Tanner, living in Unionville, Illinois; Edward Tanner, living in Paduca, Kentucky; and William Tanner, living in Indianapolis. Indiana.  Her grandparents, Thomas + Devissa Tanner, were born in Virginia; in 1851 they were living in Ohio.  She did not know the names of her aunts and uncles.  She claimed thru her grandfather, Thomas Tanner, a fullblood Cherokee Indian.  She married twice:  1) Sylvester Moreland and 2) Wm Carter, who is 48 years old.  Her children are Hil Wilson Moreland and Bluford S. Moreland.

 She signed her application; her witnesses were Charles O. Dodson, who had known her for 4 years, and  Harriet Beach, who had known her for 30.

ILLINOIS:

Ira G. Carter. Age 53, married Oneida  Bogue after 1890.   She was married before, and had two children:  Pricilla Jessup Reece and Charles J. Reece.  Oneida  #23996 applied at St Joseph Illinois on 7 June 1907  and then moved to Sterling Kansas in Jan 1909.  She was the first cousin of #10609  Elizabeth Ann Allen Hill, who claimed thru the same source.   Oneida was born  

19 July 1864 in Spiceland, Henry county Indiana to Josiah P. Bogue and Sibbie J. Allen.  She claims thru her mother's line to Martha Elmore, a NC Cherokee Indian. 

   Oneida Bogue signed her application; the witnesses were Martha E. S. Charles, who had known her for 35 years, and Martha E. Bogue, who had known her for 40 years.   
TEXAS:

T. F. Carter, age 49, married  Ellen F. Grace #29524   who was a cousin of  #29516 John H. Welch.  Ellen applied at Cleburne, Johnson county Texas on  6 July 1907.  She was born in Texas in 1865 to Thomas H. Grace and Mary J. Welch; Thomas was born in KY and Mary was born in Missouri.  Ellen's maternal grandparents were James Welch, who was born in NC, and his wife Elizabeth, who was born in TN.  In 1851 they lived ''near the line of Arkansas and the Cherokee Nation.'' 

   T. F. and Ellen had six children:  Eula Lee, Isaac F., Matie Gracie, Troy Alfred, Floyd Dawson, and Myrtle Emiline Carter.   Ellen signed her application; her witnesses were J. M. Newberry, who had known her for 25 years, and J. B. Wilson, who had known her for 27.

CALIFORNIA: 
John Walker Carter #12063  filed an application on 12 Jan 1907 at Hayfork, Trinity county California, claiming for his children through his  wife, Rebecca Jane Duncan, who was born 4 Jan 1839 in the Cherokee Nation, and died 27 Apr 1900.  John was born in Tennessee on 10 May 1826 to George and Elizabeth Carter.  He signed his application.  He apparently did not know that his children had already applied...
   This family were the nieces and nephews of #8694, Leonidis P. Duncan, who was rejected because he was on the Old Settler roll, p36.  They all claimed thru the same source:  

Charles G. Duncan and his Cherokee wife who lived in the Cherokee Nation East, and they were all rejected.

Millard Fillmore Carter #10911  24 Dec 1906  Hayfork, California. He was born 17 May 1848 in CA to John W. Carter and Rebeca Jane Duncan.  John was born in TN and Rebeca was born in the Cherokee Nation East and died on 27 Apr 1900.  She is on the Emigrant Cherokee Roll of 1851 because her father, Charles Gordon Duncan, was married to a Cherokee woman named Dor-ca.  Dorcas, no surname.   Millard's aunt was Elizabeth Duncan; she married a Smith.  Millard's application had no place to list his wife or children, and he did not respond to the GM letter sending him a supplemental application to file for them.

Robert L. Carter #10912  6 June 1907  Weaverville, Trinity county Calif.  He was born 19 Nov 1863 in CA to John W. Carter and Rebecca Jane Duncan.  Robert and his wife, Catherine Delilah Carter, who was born 13 Feb 1874 in CA, were the parents of two children:  Robert Marshal and Marie Carter.
Clement Adair Carter #10913  22 Dec 1906   Hayfork,  Calif.  He was born 7 Apr 1875 in Hayfork to John W. Carter and Rebecca Jane Duncan.  He claimed through his maternal grandparents:  Charles G Duncan and Mahala Abercrombie.  He said that one of their children was Tabitha Duncan, called Dorcas.  Clement's wife was Dora E, Carter, age 32.  Her maiden name was Carter.  They had one daughter, Laura Rebecca Carter.

George Walter Carter #10914  22 Dec 1906   Hayfork, Calif.  He was born 1 Apr 1860 in CA to John W. Carter and Rebecca Jane Duncan.  He claimed through his maternal grandparents, Charles G. Duncan and Mahla Abercrombe.  He has two children:  Cecil Jerome Carter and Royal Guy Carter; his wife, Effie Clara Carter, age 21, died on 18 May 1895, before they were born...

Florence E.  Sanburn  #10915  26 Dec 1906  Hayfork, Calif  She was born 18 Apr 1866 in CA to John W. Carter and Rebecca Jane Duncan.  Her maternal grandparents were Charles G. Duncan and Mahla Abercrombe.  Her husband was Charles Randoph Sanburn, age 32.  No children.

Mary E. Montgomery  #19919  22 Dec 1906  Hayfork, Calif  She was born 28 Dec 1861 in Hayfork to John W. Carter and Rebecca Jane Duncan.  Her maternal grandparents were Charles Gordon Duncan and Dor-ca, who was a fullblooded Cherokee.  Mary's husband is Thomas Jefferson Montgomery, age 42; they have two sons:  Earl Houston Montgomery and Kenneth Carter Montgomery.

NEW MEXICO:

Elige Emery Carter  #29163   21 Apr 1908    Knowles, Lea county NM          

He was born in Cherokee county, Texas in 1852 to Baines Carter and Elizabeth Warren, both born in  Mississippi.  In 1851 they were living in Cherokee county, Texas.  He died in 1861; she died in 1868.  In a letter to the GM office, Elige stated that his father left Mississippi in 1835 or 1836 and lived in the Cherokee Nation three or four years.  Elige ''did not know for certain if any of them were slaves or not.''  He named his siblings:  Jane, Addie, Lizzie, Barry, and Tom, all living.

     He did not know the names of his grandparents or aunts & uncles.

     Elige married a Cherokee named Sallie Birdell, age 34.  Their children were Ethel, Ruby, Ines, and Liza Telsie Carter.

     He signed his application with an X.  His witnesses were John B. Gunther, who had known him for 21 years, and P.B. Marrin, who had known him for 8.  His attorney, with POA, was Anderson P. Gagle in Konawa, Indian Territory. 

Disclaimer:  I probably misread some of these names; excellent idea to check the applications you are interested in, to be sure I read them properly….Happy hunting!  Marie
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